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Statement of compliance
FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Honourable Roger Cook MLA Deputy Premier; Minister for Health; Medical Research; State Development, Jobs and Trade; Science.

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, I hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, 
the Annual Report of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Prof. Christobel Saunders AO Michele Dolin
Board Chair Chair, PathWest Board Finance Committee
PathWest PathWest
16 September 2021 16 September 2021
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Foreword
PathWest became a Board statutory authority on 1 July 2020, and I am absolutely 
honoured to have been appointed the inaugural Board Chair, along with a talented 
and committed Board of nine other individuals. This, however, was perhaps one of 
the least momentous changes PathWest faced in the last year. PathWest has been 
the backbone of the response to the COVID-19 pandemic in Western Australia 
(WA), providing results for more than 630,000 COVID-19 tests, delivering a rapid 
testing solution to remote regions, testing wastewater and coordinating specimen 
collection at border points and quarantine sites. 

We also rolled out a laboratory information system to virtually the entire 
organisation; continued to change how we value the testing we do through the 
Pricing and Costing Project; and along with the rest of the health system, have 
willingly and effectively stepped up to each public health challenge as it arrived. 
This is a clear reflection of the professional, dedicated and talented staff 
throughout the organisation along with strong and capable leadership from our 
executive team.

The Board and I have spent this first year getting to know the organisation and 
connecting with as many individuals within it as possible. We also established 
close relationships with external stakeholders and took time to understand the 
specific needs of those we serve – the people of WA. It has been a pleasure to 
hold Board meetings and visit different sites including the Queen Elizabeth II (QEII) 
and Fiona Stanley Hospital (FSH) based laboratories, State Mortuary and Forensic 
Biology, as well as regional laboratories in Albany, Denmark, Northam, Busselton 
and Bunbury.

We have also had the opportunity to honour individuals at some remarkable events 
including the Recognition of Service Awards, the Consultant Pathologist Forums, 
Emeritus Consultant Pathologist Awards and Registrars Breakfasts. These were 
fantastic opportunities to hear of some of the wonderful work our dedicated staff 
are undertaking, which no doubt has contributed to WA having one of the best 
health and justice systems in the world.
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Foreword
We clearly see enormous opportunities for PathWest:

• In continuing to deliver world class pathology and forensic services to WA.

• Developing research and innovation and to be at the forefront of new technology 
such as in genomics and artificial intelligence. 

• In better defining the value of the pathology services we undertake to improve the 
health of our community and develop new income streams.  

• To be at the forefront of environmental sustainability in all our business practices.  

• To improve our engagement with Aboriginal Australians, both within our 
workforce but also in our service delivery.

We have commenced the development of a four-year strategic plan, and I have 
been thrilled to see the engagement of many of our staff in this process.

The Board has used the first year to build a solid governance structure to support 
PathWest and its endeavours, including the establishment of four committees and 
one advisory council which is further detailed on page 18.

As Chair of the PathWest Board, I am fortunate to be joined by members who bring 
a vast range of skills and knowledge in key areas and would personally like to 

thank each of them for their continued passion and contribution during the first year 
of the Board’s operation. I must also mention the hard work of our Secretariat, who 
keeps all the wheels running smoothly.

To the PathWest executive group especially Chief Executive Joe Boyle, on behalf of 
the Board I would like to thank you for the valuable support and assistance during 
our first year in operation. 

Lastly, on behalf of the Board I would like to acknowledge all staff of PathWest. 
Our strength as a health service has been highlighted since the outbreak of 
COVID-19, with pathology playing a crucial role in helping to manage this 
pandemic. The commitment from all disciplines of PathWest during these uncertain 
times has been truly inspiring. We are proud of what we have been able to achieve 
as a health service and look forward to a successful 2021/22. 

Prof. Christobel Saunders AO 
Board Chair 
PathWest
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Foreword
The financial year 20/21 has been one of the most remarkable and challenging in 
PathWest’s history and even more so as an independent Health Service Provider. 
Since July 2018, the organisation has embarked on a transformational journey 
aimed at strengthening and enhancing our position as a vital and highly respected 
part of the WA Health and Judicial systems. 

Like many others, the global COVID-19 pandemic has been a major disruptor to our 
original plans and priorities and PathWest has had to be resilient, flexible and 
creative in running our operations effectively while at the same time stepping up to 
be a major and highly effective player in the State’s handling of the pandemic. 
Pathology services have never been so much in the public spotlight than through 
COVID-19 testing. The terms ‘PCR’ and ‘genetic sequencing’ are now not just 
specialist terms known by a few trusty scientists and clinicians but are very much 
part of everyday speech. I am very proud of how PathWest and its skilled and 
motivated teams have contributed to keeping the State of Western Australia safe 
over the past 18 months.

As if the pandemic was not enough, 20/21 was the year that we decided to 
implement one of the single largest implementations of a Laboratory Information 
System (LIS) in the world. Replacing a 25-year old organisation wide system across 
a network of 76 collection centres and 27 laboratories was the second major 
disruptor of PathWest’s year! With the system now live the organisation is well 
placed to build a digital platform fit for the future and start to drive enhanced 
safety and quality, efficiencies and customer experience. 

Our Annual Report, I believe, demonstrates the great work going on across PathWest, 
the valuable role that we play, and the tremendous talent of our staff. In addition to 
the great work of our pathology teams, our forensic biology and forensic pathology 
teams continue to contribute to our judicial system through our relationships and 
services to the WA Police Force and the State Coroner’s office.  They too have had a 
‘high profile year’ with their expert and highly commended involvement in well 
publicised court cases. Their expert work, scrutinised over many months and 
spanning decades, was of the highest standards and rightly recognised as such.

This year we have seen the appointment of the PathWest Board, a step that will 
enable the further development of the organisation, enhancing its governance as 
well as shaping its future. It’s been a real pleasure to work with Prof. Christobel 
Saunders and the new Board members. 

Finally, I would like to recognise the PathWest staff. While we strive for continuous 
improvement and development, I am truly proud and grateful for the outstanding 
work they do and thank them for enabling the successful outcomes described in 
this report.

Joe Boyle 
Chief Executive
PathWest
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About us
PathWest strives to improve the health and justice systems in WA, providing unique, 
essential and high-quality pathology and forensic services for the community.

With a team of more than 2,300 dedicated and highly skilled staff, PathWest is well 
placed to respond to the needs of, and make a real difference for, our communities 
and customers, including clinicians, the WA Police Force (WAPF), the State Coroner, 
the WA justice system, commercial clients and, of course, our patients.

Pathology services touch people at every stage of life. Each person starts their 
pathology journey early, in some cases receiving their first test while still in the 
uterus, or via the Newborn Bloodspot Screening Program within days of birth. This 
relationship continues throughout a person’s life, and occasionally beyond, with the 
forensic team finding answers for bereaved families after the unexpected death of a 
loved one.

Each year PathWest performs more than 19 million tests – from those that 
are routine to highly specialised screening. This testing is used to:

Inform 

70%
 of all 

clinical decisions 
and diagnose 

100% 
of cancers

Monitor disease, 
identifying whether 

treatments are 
effective 

Predict 
susceptibility 

to disease

Identify the 
presence or 
absence of 
infection

Prevent disease by 
identifying risk 

factors in patients 
that can be modified 

Personalise 
treatment to achieve 

the best clinical 
outcomes

Determine 
patient 

prognosis

Inform more 
than 11,000

criminal 
investigations 

each year
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A State-wide service

  Lab Hubs         Branch Labs         Collection Centres     *Bubble size relative to activity levels

As the only public pathology provider for the State, PathWest provides services 
throughout metropolitan and regional WA – from as far north as Kununurra, to 
Esperance in the south and everywhere in between.  

PathWest is also responsible for several Statewide services including the State 
Mortuary, the Statewide Perinatal Pathology Service and the Statewide Newborn 
Bloodspot Screening Service – meaning no matter where you are in WA, PathWest 
services are available.

9
metropolitan 
laboratories

25
metropolitan 

collection 
centres

18
regional 

laboratories

51
regional 

collection 
centres

1
forensic  
biology 

laboratory

1
media 

manufacturing 
facility
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Vision, mission 
and core values

Strategic themes and actions

VISION
To be the pathology and testing service of choice. 
Testing for today, teaching for tomorrow.

MISSION
Across our services, we are committed to 
providing excellence and innovation in pathology, 
testing, teaching and research; positively 
contributing to the health and wellbeing of the 
community.

CORE VALUES
Excellence in everything we do
Respect for ourselves and others
Professionalism at all times
Commitment to all our staff and community

To support its direction throughout 2020/21, PathWest continued to focus on five strategic themes:

Innovation and 
service 

development

Research Operational 
excellence

Staff 
development

Customer 
experience

To complement our strategic themes, and in line with the vision, mission and core values, PathWest 
also continued its implementation of five lead strategic actions outlined in 2019/20 including:

• successful implementation and ‘go-live’ of the new Laboratory Information System (LIS)

• building unity, a sense of belonging and shared purpose across the organisation

• engaging with key stakeholders to develop a strong, sustainable business

• establishing a robust and transparent financial model

• clearly defining governance structures and accountabilities.

During 2020/21, in consultation with the executive team and key staff, the new PathWest Board 
commenced development of our new Strategic Plan and updated Purpose, Vision and Values –  
this is explored on page 21.
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Our Governance
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Enabling legislation
The Health Services Act 2016 WA (HSA 2016) introduced changes to the 
governance of the WA health system by clarifying roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities and by devolving decision making to the local level. 

Section 32 of the HSA 2016 provides for the establishment of Health Service 
Providers (HSPs). PathWest was established as a Board governed HSP by the 
Minister for Health under section 32(1)(b) of the HSA 2016 on 1 July 2020. 

Section 70(1)(b) of the HSA 2016 stipulates that the Board is the governing body 
of the statutory authority and is to perform or exercise all the functions of 
PathWest under this Act or any other written law. 

Communication between PathWest and the Minister for Health, Parliamentary 
representatives, Ministers and WA health system is governed by a 
Communication Agreement, with clear lines of accountability and responsibility 
noted within.

Accountable authority
The PathWest Board was the accountable authority for PathWest in 2020/21.

Minister
PathWest is responsible to the Minister for Health, the Honourable  
Roger Cook MLA.
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Governance structure
As a Board-governed HSP, PathWest is responsible and accountable to the 
Minister for Health and the WA Department of Health (DoH) Director General as 
the System Manager. 

The System Manager is responsible for the overall management, performance and 
strategic direction of the WA health system, ensuring the delivery of high quality, 
safe and timely health services. 

The PathWest Board is legally responsible and accountable for providing safe, high 
quality and efficient pathology and forensic services to WA.

The Minister for Health appoints the PathWest Board Chair and members, and the 
System Manager is the employing authority of the PathWest Chief Executive, who 
is responsible for day-to-day operations. 

Minister for Health
Hon Roger Cook MLA

Director General, Department of Health (System Manager)
Dr David J Russell-Weisz

PathWest Board
Board Chair Prof. Christobel Saunders AO

9 Board Members

Chief Executive, PathWest
Mr Joe Boyle

Chief 
Pathologist

Executive 
Director 

Corporate 
Services

Chief Financial 
Officer

Director 
Business 

Intelligence and 
Performance 

Reporting

Executive 
Director 

Operations

Manager,  
Office of the 

Chief Executive
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Our Board
PathWest became a Board governed statutory authority on 1 July 2020.  

The inaugural Board was appointed by the Minister for Health and, under section 34 of the Health Services Act 2016, is responsible for setting the strategic and operational 
direction of PathWest within the scope of policy frameworks set by the System Manager. 

The Board comprises highly capable and committed professionals with a diverse range of experience across the fields of medicine and health care, finance, community and 
consumer engagement. The Board works closely with the PathWest Chief Executive, who manages the day-to-day organisational operations to deliver safe, high-quality and 
efficient services to the communities of WA and beyond.

The Board met monthly on 11 occasions during 2020/21, and was supported by four newly established Committees:

Members of PathWest Board

People and Culture Committee Safety and Quality Committee Risk and Audit Committee Finance Committee

14PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2020/21



Our Board
The inaugural PathWest Board comprised the following members for the 2020/21 period:

Professor Christobel Saunders AO
Board Chai r
Professor Saunders is an internationally recognised leading consultant 
surgeon, surgical academic and oncology researcher, involved in the 
strategic planning and management of cancer services in Australia, 
with a career practicing for over 30 years. 

She currently practices as a Consultant Surgeon at Fiona Stanley 
Hospital and St John of God Hospital Subiaco, is Professor in Surgical Oncology at the 
University of Western Australia (UWA), and the Director of the Cancer and Palliative Care 
Research and Evaluation Unit. Professor Saunders is on several national and international 
cancer organisation boards including Breast Cancer Trials and All.Can International. 

Professor Saunders was appointed Officer of the Order of Australia (AO) in 2018 for 
“distinguished service to medical education in the field of surgical oncology, to the 
diagnosis and management of breast cancer and melanoma, as an academic, researcher 
and clinician.” 

Professor Tarun Weeramanthri
Deputy Board Chair
Professor Weeramanthri is an experienced public health physician who 
has more than 30 years of comprehensive experience in tertiary 
hospitals, with international disaster medicine and in senior executive 
roles. These include Chief Health Officer, and Assistant Director 
General for Public and Aboriginal Health for the WA Department of 
Health (2008-2018), as well as Chief Health Officer, Northern Territory Department of 
Health and Community Services (2004-2007).
Professor Weeramanthri is currently an Adjunct Professor at the School of Population 
and Global Health, UWA, an independent public health consultant, and most recently a 
Special Advisor in Health to the Pandemic Coordination Unit, Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet of WA. Recently, he has been a panel member on the National 
Contact Tracing Review and conducted two independent inquiries in WA – into the 
Impacts of Climate Change on Health and Hotel Quarantine.

Dr Sue van Leeuwen
Board member
Chair, PathWest Board People and Culture Committee
Dr van Leeuwen is an experienced chair and non-executive director, 
and consultant in strategy, governance and executive leadership 
development for over 25 years.
She has held board positions at Community Leadership Australia,  
St John Ambulance WA, Amana Living, McCusker Learning and Development,  
All Saints College and Anglican Homes Foundation. Additionally, Dr van Leeuwen  
held Chief Executive roles at Leadership Australia, National Research Centre, and 
Swanleigh Residential College. 

Ms Michele Dolin
Board member
Chair, PathWest Board Finance Committee
Ms Dolin is an experienced company director and qualified accountant 
who has held board appointments with public sector entities, private 
and listed companies, and not for profit enterprises. 
She currently holds non-executive director roles and chairs the Audit 
and Risk Committees for Synergy Electricity Generation and Retail Corporation,  
St Andrews Insurance (Australia) and St Andrew’s Life Insurance.  

Ms Angie Paskevicius
Board member
Chair, PathWest Board Risk and Audit Committee
Ms Paskevicius is an experienced non-executive director and chief 
executive officer, with a career that spans over 30 years as a health 
practitioner, senior executive, business owner and executive coach 
- working in the private, public and not-for-profit sectors. 
She is currently the Chief Executive Officer, and Executive Director for Holyoake.  
She also serves as Chair for Interchange WA, and a Non-Executive Director of the  
WA Network of Alcohol and other Drug Agencies.
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Mr Kevin Taylor
Board member
Chair, PathWest Board Safety and Quality Committee
Mr Taylor is an experienced senior executive with expertise in strategic 
and operational management for more than 25 years. He is the former 
Senior Executive for Community Services, Corporate Services, and 
Pathology at St John of God Healthcare. 
He has also previously contributed to the strategic development of pathology and 
laboratory medicine in Timor-Leste.

Dr Kim Hames
Board member
Dr Hames has more than 40 years of experience as a general 
practitioner, politician in State Parliament and local city councillor.  
He currently works in a skin cancer clinic in Midland and a General 
Practice in Cannington.  
Dr Hames is renowned for his services to the public as former Deputy 
Premier, Minister for Health, Tourism, Training and Workforce Development, and 
Indigenous Affairs. He currently serves as Board Chair for Madalah and Board member 
for Ronald McDonald House, WA.

Mr Rob McPhee
Board member
Mr McPhee is an experienced executive director with expertise in 
Aboriginal justice and human rights, sustainable community 
development, management and leadership in a career spanning over 
25 years. 
He is currently the Chief Operating Officer for the Kimberley Aboriginal 
Medical Services and is an active participant on various local and national Aboriginal 
health and wellbeing committees, working groups and research trials.

Ms Samantha Elder
Board member 
Ms Elder is an experienced senior business leader and has held a 
range of executive and non-executive director roles across a broad 
range of industries including, public and private healthcare, mining, oil 
and gas services, and manufacturing. Her experience spans more than 
25 years in both multinational and not-for-profit organisations and she has worked 
internationally in the United Kingdom, the United Arab Emirates and Canada. 
Now permanently based in Australia, she is passionate about the provision of  
high-quality patient care and is currently Director of Finance and Performance, 
Hospitals for St John of God Healthcare.

Professor Gelareh Farshid
Board member
Professor Farshid is an experienced and renowned senior consultant 
anatomical pathologist, health executive and non-executive director in 
medicine. A pathologist with 30 years’ experience, her principal areas 
of interest are in breast and soft tissue pathology. 
Currently practicing in South Australia (SA) as Senior Consultant Pathologist in the 
Surgical Pathology and Cytopathology Directorate, for SA Pathology, she is also a 
Clinical Professor in the School of Medical Sciences, at the University of Adelaide.  
She holds various board and committee roles, including serving as Chair of Structured 
Pathology Reporting for Breast Cancer for the Royal College of Pathologists and 
Treasurer for the Executive Board of the Australasian Division of International Academy 
of Pathology.

Our Board
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Board and committee attendance
Name Number of meetings Meeting attended

PathWest Board
Prof Christobel Saunders AO 11 11
Prof Tarun Weeramanthri1 8 7
Prof Gelareh Farshid2 11 7
Dr Kim Hames 11 10
Dr Sue van Leeuwen 11 11
Rob McPhee 11 10
Angie Paskevicius 11 11
Kevin Taylor 11 11
Samantha Elder 11 9
Michele Dolin 11 11
Finance Committee
Michele Dolin 5 5
Samantha Elder 5 5

Name Number of meetings Meeting attended

Risk and Audit Committee
Angie Paskevicius 4 4
Kevin Taylor 4 4
Samantha Elder 4 4
Safety and Quality Committee
Kevin Taylor 3 3
Prof Tarun Weeramanthri 3 3
Prof Gelareh Farshid 3 3
People and Culture Committee
Dr Sue van Leeuwen 3 3
Dr Kim Hames 3 3
Rob McPhee 3 2

1. Professor Weeramanthri became an active member of the PathWest Board on 16 August 2020. A leave of 
absence from Board activities was approved for the period 21 May 2021 to 28 June 2021. Following this leave, 
Professor Weeramanthri returned as an active member of the PathWest Board. 

2.  Dr Farshid’s attendance is lower than other Board members serving 12 months due to leave between  
1 July 2020 to 30 October 2020.
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Board committees in focus
The Board has used its first year to build a solid governance structure to support PathWest. This included the establishment of four Committees:

PEOPLE AND CULTURE  Chair: Dr Sue van Leeuwen

PURPOSE

Assist the PathWest Board in 
fostering a shared vision and 
positive, open culture with an 
emphasis on our most important 
asset – our staff; and to cultivate 
appropriate and effective 
engagement between staff, 
clinicians, patients, customers and 
the wider communities on matters 
related to people and culture.

2020/21 FOCUS

• Gained an understanding of the PathWest workforce, including the current organisation structure and provided input to 
reviews including industrial frameworks, allowances and the proposed future structure. 

• Reviewed reports on Integrity and Ethics, workforce profiles, mandatory training and Commissioners Instruction 23.  

• Reviewed results of the 2020 Minister for Health ‘Your Voice in Health’ engagement survey and monitored progress of 
departmental action plans aimed at driving improvements and promoting an engaged and supported workforce culture.

• Increasing Aboriginal employment and improving cultural enrichment and wellbeing of Aboriginal staff, with an 
ambition to advance broader Aboriginal community health improvements with linkages to the Sustainable Health 
Review Report (2019). Several initiatives were developed and commenced, which will continue to be a focus of the 
Committee heading into the next year.  

• Worked in collaboration with the Finance Committee to address excess leave liability with an emphasis on promoting 
the connection between leave and staff wellbeing.

SAFETY AND QUALITY Chair: Mr Kevin Taylor

PURPOSE

Assist the Board in fostering safe 
and quality PathWest services for 
staff, patients and customers by 
monitoring and advising on matters 
relating to safety and quality and 
through the implementation of,  
and adherence to, the Clinical 
Governance and Safety and Quality 
policy frameworks. 

2020/21 FOCUS

• Developed an understanding of PathWest’s accreditation requirements and status with the National Association of 
Testing Authorities (NATA), receiving regular updates on assessments conducted throughout PathWest.

• Examined safety and quality performance in all areas of PathWest, providing recommendations to strengthen reporting 
to the Committee and Board through trend analysis. 

• Placed an emphasis on strengthening the PathWest Clinical Governance and Occupational Safety and Health 
Frameworks, to provide clear processes relating to safety and quality performance. 

• Reviewed research activities with a focus on governance, current research activities and potential updates to research 
governance.
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RISK AND AUDIT Chair: Ms Angie Paskevicius

PURPOSE

Provide support, assistance and 
advice, and make recommendations 
to the PathWest Board regarding the 
adherence to the WA Department of 
Health Risk, Compliance and Audit 
Policy Framework, and relevant 
aspects of other Policy Frameworks. 
The Committee also monitor 
adequacy, effectiveness and 
efficiency of internal audit and risk 
management processes.

2020/21 FOCUS

• Gained an understanding of PathWest’s risk profile, established a strong working relationship with the PathWest  
Audit and Risk Manager and the Office of the Auditor General. 

• Strengthened risk escalation processes to both the Committee and Board following recommendations from an in-depth 
review of the Strategic Risk Register.

• Supported the Audit and Risk Manager to develop the PathWest Risk Appetite Statement and identify improvement 
opportunities relating to PathWest’s assurance methodology and risk culture.

• Worked with the Audit and Risk Manager to develop the PathWest risk-based Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 
and the three-year rolling Strategic Internal Audit Plan for 2021/22 to 2023/24.

• Monitored progress of the PathWest Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21 and the 2021/22 external audit process to 
ensure audits were delivered on schedule.

FINANCE Chair: Ms Michele Dolin

PURPOSE

Provide support, assistance, advice 
and recommendations to the 
PathWest Board on exercising its 
authority in relation to all aspects of 
financial management including 
policy, performance, governance and 
contract management. The 
Committee sought to assure the 
implementation of and adherence to 
the WA health system Finance 
Management Policy Framework.

2020/21 FOCUS

• Partnered with PathWest executive to shape the finance and business reporting framework and identified areas for 
greater focus from trends and insights analysis.

• Developed an understanding of key projects such as the LIS upgrade and the Pricing and Costing Project to ensure 
comprehensive Board oversight.

• Provided oversight through a review of the finance and business report, annual budget, procurement requests and 
findings from internal and external audit reports within the context of financial risk, to ensure clear recommendations 
are provided to the Board where appropriate. 

• Reviewed leave liability throughout PathWest and worked in collaboration with the People and Culture Committee to 
better address excess leave.

Board committees in focus
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Forensic Biology Advisory Council
The Forensic Biology Advisory Council (FBAC) was established in November 
2020 to support the PathWest Board in a standing advisory capacity. This 
Council was also established to address Recommendation 10 of the 2017  
Ross Inquiry into PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (Ross Inquiry).

“An Advisory Council is established as part of the governance 
arrangements for FBD. While not a decision-making body, the 
Advisory Council should have sufficient authority, status and 
influence to maintain FBD as a well-respected and contemporary 
forensic science service provider for the State of Western 
Australia.” – Recommendation 10 – Ross Inquiry, page 37 

The role of FBAC is to promote the PathWest Forensic Biology Department 
(FBD) and advocate for forensic biology services in Western Australia, ensuring 
improved and transparent communication between all relevant stakeholders 
including the WAPF and the WA justice system. FBAC ensures PathWest can 
optimise any opportunities to develop and enhance forensic biology services in 
the State, as well as provide advice to the PathWest Board. 

The membership of FBAC comprises:

• Hon. John Chaney, Retired Judge (Chair)

• Dr. Gavin Turbett, Head of Department, Forensic Biology, PathWest

• Prof. Christobel Saunders AO, PathWest Board Chair

• Brad Royce, Assistant Commissioner, WA Police

• Amanda Forrester SC, Director of Public Prosecutions

• Nicholas van Hattem, Law Society WA

• James Speers, Associate Professor in Forensic Science Murdoch University

The FBAC met twice in 2020/21, focusing on potential legislative  
amendments and investigating a purpose-built forensic facility to address 
Recommendation 4 of the Ross Inquiry.
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Path to 2025 – Strategic Plan
A key piece of work spearheaded by the PathWest Board and executive team is the 
development of a comprehensive strategic plan to guide the future of public 
pathology in WA, ensuring PathWest can continue to grow as a world-class 
pathology and forensic institution.

Preparations for the development of PathWest’s inaugural Strategic Plan 2021-25 
commenced in December 2020, with a planning session held to deliberate the 
scope and structure of the Plan including the process and timeline for the Plan’s 
development. 

January through June 2021 saw a program of consultation and engagement 
completed with internal and external stakeholders informing the development of 
the draft Strategic Plan. This included a survey of the PathWest extended 
leadership team, meetings with WA heath system leaders, and dedicated staff 
forums that were well attended with active and passionate discussion, feedback 
and inputs provided. 

The first draft of the Strategic Plan was completed in late June 2021.

In July/August 2021, development will continue, including the opportunity for all 
staff to submit their review and feedback, as well as additional external 
stakeholder review to ensure any further valuable refinements are made in 
concluding the process.  

The PathWest Board and executive anticipate the finalised plan will be published in 
late September/early October 2021.   
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Chief Executive
Mr. Joe Boyle
1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Adrian Bautista
1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021

Chief Pathologist
Prof. Miles Beaman
1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021

Executive Director  
Corporate Services
Ms. Fiona Lander
1 July 2020 – 22 January 2021

Acting Executive Director  
Corporate Services
Ms. Analiese Sidhu
6 April 2021 – 30 June 2021

Acting Executive Director  
Operations
Mrs. Frances Brogden
1 July 2020 – 30 November 2020

Acting Executive Director  
Operations
Mrs. Leesa Ivey
30 November 2020 – 6 June 2021

Director Business  
Intelligence and Reporting
Mr. David Miotti
1 July 2020 – 30 June 2021

Acting Manager,  
Office of the Chief Executive
Ms. Jessica Clements
1 July 2020 – 19 February 2021

Manager,  
Office of the Chief Executive
Ms. Nicola Chisholm
22 February 2021 – 30 June 2021

Our Executive (Senior Officers)
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Our Service
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REQUESTS
 More than 3.6 million 
requests by clinicians

SPECIMEN COLLECTION
 25 metropolitan collection centres
 More than 650,000 specimens 
collected in the metropolitan area

 51 regional collection centres

LABORATORY
 9 metropolitan
 18 regional

ANALYSIS
 Performing 19 million tests per year

COURIER 
NETWORK
 15 vehicle fleet
 1 million kms per year

REGISTRATION
 All samples received 
within the laboratory 
are registered in the 
laboratory system

INTERPRETATION 
AND REPORTING
 More than 130 
Consultant Pathologies 
to interpret and report on 
results

RESULTS
 Results delivered to 
doctors throughout  
WA and interstate

 Uploaded to  
My Health Record

PATHWEST

Pathology cycle at a glance

PATHOLOGY 
REQUEST

PATHOLOGY 
RESULTS

PATHWEST

PATHWEST

  MICROBIOLOGY
    IMMUNOLOGY

   ANATOMICAL
   PATHOLOGY

  FORENSIC
  PATHOLOGY

BIOCHEMISTRY

GENOMICS 

HAEMATOLOGY

PATHOLOGY 
RESULTS

PATIENT

SUPPORTING: 
 Police and Justice     Teaching and Training    Research and innovation 
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Year at a glance  

2,830 
POST MORTEM EXAMINATIONS 

5,367,535
RECORDS 
uploaded to My Health Record

272,831
CALLS TO 13 PATH

3,161
CORONIAL CASES

2,960
CT SCANS COMPLETED

11.9 YEARS
AVERAGE LENGTH OF SERVICE 
at PathWest

54 YEARS
LONGEST SERVING STAFF MEMBER

638,613
COVID-19 TESTS
 were performed

TRANSPLANTS FROM WA 
DECEASED DONORS

NUMBER OF CONTRIBUTIONS TO 
THE STATE AND NATIONAL 
DEOXYRIBONUCLEIC ACID  
(DNA) DATABASE

28,400 
DNA profiles added

55 kidney transplants in WA

22 kidneys sent interstate

7 heart transplants in WA

2 hearts sent interstate

9 liver transplants in WA

5 livers sent interstate

14 lung transplants in WA

7 lungs sent interstate

0-10 years  53%

10-20 years 29%

20-30 years 13%

30-40 years 4%
40+ years 1%

STAFF SERVICE PROFILE

CRIME SCENE EXHIBITS AND 
REFERENCE SAMPLES ANALYSED

50,400
IN 10,100 CASES

While WA is only 10.4% of the national population, 
PathWest Forensic Biology contributes more than 
27% of all the DNA profiles on the national DNA 
database.
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Year in review
Anatomical Pathology 

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Established an advisory board to oversee the management, implementation and 
planning of the community health program funding for Statewide comprehensive 
genomic testing to expedite treatment of WA cancer patients based on their 
tumour molecular profiles. 

• Continued to play a central role as a Statewide somatic mutation testing node.  
PathWest and Linear Clinical Research collaborated to set up the WA node of the 
Australian Genomic Cancer Medicine Program - Molecular Oncology Screening 
and Treatment (MoST), to offer comprehensive genomic testing to patients with 
rare and uncommon cancers and match them to clinical trials coordinated by the 

National Health and Medical Research Council Clinical Trial Centre. To date,  
98 WA patients have been referred and 56 have completed genomic testing with 
reports issued by the PathWest Molecular Tumour Board. Twelve MoST clinical 
trials are open or being set up in Linear Clinical Research for rare cancers, and 
eight WA patients have been referred for participation. 

• Completed verification of a new 523 gene somatic mutation test panel assay and 
testing expanded to include eligible patients from all cancer categories.  
To date comprehensive genome testing has been carried out on 157 cancer 
patients.

• Installation and commissioning of five new tissue processing instruments 
facilitating improvements to laboratory workflows.

Using cutting edge technology, the Anatomical Pathology (AP) discipline provides a comprehensive diagnostic and clinical service in the fields of 
histopathology, cytology, immunohistochemistry, electron microscopy, molecular pathology, non-coronial post-mortem examination and frozen section service.
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Biochemistry
The Biochemistry discipline performs an extensive range of routine and 
specialised biochemical tests using high throughput technology combined 
with rapid analysis, to provide fast turnaround times for reporting of major 
biochemical analytes, crucial for rapid diagnosis and efficient patient 
management.  

Diagnostic Genomics
The Diagnostic Genomics discipline provides a comprehensive service in 
the rapidly expanding field of genetic testing. The discipline performs 
medical genomic tests ranging from identifying disease, cause changes in 
single genes, to whole chromosome aneuploidy.

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Whole exome sequencing (WES) was introduced with data on 19,557 genes 
collected on each patient and analysed by gene panels related to the 
patient’s phenotype. There are on average about 41,000 variants detected on 
each patient that need to be filtered down to a manageable number to 
analyse which is usually less than 100. If a pathogenic variant is not 
identified, then analysis can be performed using Human Phenotype Ontology 
terms. Several different pipelines for next-generation sequencing have been 
moved to WES methodology to improve the efficiency of analysis.

• Chromosomal abnormalities represent a significant proportion of pregnancy 
loss causes, and microarray is now being used as a first line test for 
pregnancy loss. Microarray detects the most clinically significant 
cytogenomic abnormalities, as it has a higher diagnostic yield than can be 
detected testing karyotype.

• Work on Mackenzie’s Mission, the Australian Reproductive Carrier 
Screening Project, continued with two Medicare funding applications 
submitted in 2020/21 – read more on page 70.

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Responded to clinician requests for new tests that have improved the 
diagnostic clinical pathway and led to more effective patient care. In 2020/21, 
the following tests have been introduced for routine or clinical trials to improve 
clinical care and management of congenital disease in children;  
– Bloodspot steroid panel for congenital adrenal hyperplasia newborn screening.  
– Red cell phosphatidylethanol as a long-term marker for alcohol consumption.
– Urine free cortisol assay providing higher selectivity and specificity 

compared to conventional immunoassays. 
• Improved assay specificity and sensitivity in endocrine testing through 

specialised technology.
• Installation of a Roche Cobas c 513 analyser, dedicated to HbA1c testing in the 

FSH Biochemistry Core laboratory enabling consolidation of this testing to one 
site with associated cost savings and improved turnaround times. The analyser 
provides a throughput of 400 tests per hour.

• FSH Biochemistry provides a Statewide service for renal and salivary stone 
analysis utilising the preferred technology - Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy.
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Forensic Biology
PathWest operates the sole forensic biology laboratory in WA, performing 
forensic DNA analysis and reporting services to support the WAPF and the 
WA justice system. 

\

Forensic Pathology
The Forensic Pathology department and State Mortuary facility provide a 
comprehensive Coronial post-mortem service for WA under the direction 
of the State Coroner. 

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Establishment of the FBAC to develop and maintain Forensic Biology as a 
contemporary forensic science service provider for WA. Membership 
includes representatives of Justice, Police, Academia and PathWest –  
read more on page 20.

• The National DNA program for Unidentified and Missing Persons was 
launched in Canberra in July 2020, with Forensic Biology the representative 
WA forensic DNA laboratory. This national initiative is coordinated by the 
Australian Federal Police and seeks to document and identify long term 
unidentified human remains or missing persons cases through contemporary 
forensic techniques. 

• Having acquired two Tecan Fluent 1080 liquid handling platforms, we are 
the first forensics laboratory in the world to use the new Fluent system. 
Incorporating customised protocols, most notably “safe pathways” for 
contamination minimisation and sample tracking features, the turnkey 
system is modular and flexible enough to support the installation of new 
components to enable future functionalities.  

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Increased admissions and operational demands in 2020/21 led to 
consistently high activity levels each month challenging forensic staff.

• Appointment of additional medical and technical staff including two new 
Consultant Forensic Pathologists and four mortuary assistants, and the 
establishment of a second trainee position in Forensic Pathology.

• The use of the computerised tomography (CT) as an additional post-mortem 
tool helped reduce the requirement for a full post-mortem to be conducted 
on 80-90 per cent of cases to 60-70 per cent of cases.

• Following receipt of State Government funding and approval for the State 
Mortuary facility refurbishment in 2020, extensive work has been 
undertaken by the PathWest Mortuary Upgrade Project team and Steering 
Committee – read more on page 72.
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Haematology
The Haematology discipline provides a multitude of routine and 
specialised testing services to aid in the diagnosis and treatment of a 
wide variety of blood disorders as well as therapeutic products including 
blood, plasma, platelets, clotting factors and bone marrow.

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) in haematologic neoplasms developed 
by Haematology, QEII Molecular Haematology, FSH and in collaboration 
with Diagnostic Genomics at QEII. The first panel to be initiated is a 30 gene 
panel for the investigation of myeloid neoplasms which will aid in the 
diagnosis, prognostication, monitoring and guidance of therapy in this group 
of disorders. In-house testing and interpretation will result in enhanced 
clinicopathologic correlations and better patient outcomes.

• Cellavision instruments (digital microscopes) at FSH and QEII laboratories, 
will transform the practice of haematology and will be advantageous in our 
network for provision of remote expertise to regional laboratories. The aim 
is to eventually roll these out across the State.

• COVID-19 changed the process for the collection and transport of allogenic 
bone marrow graft in the Bone Marrow Transplant Laboratory. Previously 
these grafts were transported on the day of collection directly to the 
transplant centre for immediate infusion. The new process required grafts 
collected in advance, cryopreserved and transported frozen in nitrogen. This 
was an enormous international logistic challenge given the 12,000 
allografts performed annually and PathWest had never attempted to ship 
cryopreserved donor material on this scale. Despite an initial fall in 
transplant numbers, we have seen a rapid rebound in activity; a tribute to 
the effort and ingenuity of local and international teams.
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Immunology
The Immunology discipline provides a range of services that assist in the 
diagnosis, monitoring and treatment of immunological disorders and 
conditions relating to autoimmunity, allergy, immunodeficiency, 
transplantation and Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV).   

Microbiology 
The Microbiology discipline offers a comprehensive range of specialised 
services for the detection of all major disease-causing micro-organisms 
including bacteria, fungi, viruses, protozoa and helminths (worms).

  Key 2020/21 achievements

In addition to their significant contribution to the COVID-19 response (outlined 
on page 54), other noteworthy achievements include:  
• The QEII enteric reference lab has co-located with bacteriology as the 

discipline transitions from conventional enteric culture methods to the latest 
molecular testing methods.

• Commenced planning to construct a purpose-built whole genome sequencing 
facility to accommodate this rapidly expanding service.

• The FSH and QEII Molecular laboratories moving into fully automated real-time 
PCR - high throughput systems. 

• Completed planning to change operating hours of the QEII bacteriology 
laboratory, which will soon join FSH Bacteriology in offering a 24/7 service. 
This will improve workflows to reduce turn-around times (TATs) for 
metropolitan and regional microbiology samples and optimise total laboratory 
automation solutions for bacteriology.  

• The 24/7 laboratory supports the transplant program by providing urgent 
testing for blood borne viruses in donors. Microbiology and Immunology 
Departments also collaborated on development of assays for HIV testing. 

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• The QEII Immunology laboratory reviewed the testing approach for several 
assays with a number of tests previously sent to external laboratories returned 
to QEII Immunology where feasible (i.e. Ribonucleic acid (RNA) Polymerase 3 
antibodies associated with scleroderma and anti-Saccharomyces Cerevisiae 
antibodies associated with inflammatory bowel disease). 

• Testing for antibodies associated with inflammatory myositis have been 
expanded to include antibodies associated with inclusion body myositis.  

• On-going development of the anti-Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating 
factor (GM-CSF) and Interferon Gamma antibody assays for detection of and 
functional inhibition of cytokine activity measured by flow cytometry.  

• FSH Immunology won a contract to provide human leukocyte antigen (HLA) 
type DNA from buccal swabs for the Australian Bone Marrow Donor Registry 
(ABMDR) for the whole of Australia. The 12-month project started in July 
2020, with 6,000 individuals tested. 

• FSH Immunology gained re-accreditation from the American Society of 
Histocompatibility and Immunogenetics (ASHI) for HLA-related assays 
including solid organ and 
bone marrow transplant 
matching and disease-
related HLA typing. We are 
the first in the world to be 
accredited by ASHI for rapid 
high-resolution HLA typing 
by third generation 
sequencing. 
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Pre-Analytical Services 
Pre-Analytical Services include specimen collection, reception and processing, 
and transportation and is integral to State-wide pathology operations.

  Key 2020/21 achievements

Along with their significant contribution to the COVID-19 response (outlined 
on page 54), the team’s other significant achievements include:  

• A new collection centre in Ellenbrook servicing the north-eastern suburbs.

• Supporting oncology patients by establishing and operating a temporary 
collection point in DD block in Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital (SCGH) Cancer 
Centre. 

• Appointing a full time Manager for the PathWest Call Centre to improve the 
customer experience and ensure appropriate staffing levels are maintained.

• Performed AS4308: Procedures for specimen collection and the detection 
and quantitation of drugs of abuse in urine assessment for WAPF.

• Commenced a major refurbishment project on QEII E Block collection centre 
to improve the customer experience and workflow. 
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Regional Support Services
PathWest provide services to communities all over WA, from Kununurra in the north to Esperance in the south and every community in between.  
The specimen collection and laboratory testing services provided by the regional support services (RSS) network are comprehensive and broad.

  Key 2020/21 achievements

• The hard-working staff across the regions were acknowledged for their 
dedication and resilience through the devastation and disruption of the  
2021 bushfires and Cyclone Seroja.  

• Additional GenXpert analysers addressed the need for rapid COVID-19 
testing across country regional sites. 

• Armadale, Bunbury and Rockingham installed a second Vitros 7600 to 
ensure continuity of service.

• Monthly Medical Scientist in Charge meetings were held using 
teleconferencing, enabling the delivery of professional development and 
administrative guidance during COVID-19 restrictions. Teleconferencing has 
become an integral part of the regional services operation.

• Supplies and transport of personnel were significantly impacted by 
COVID-19 restrictions in regional areas requiring the introduction of a  
WA Country Health Service (WACHS) daily ‘milk run’ linking Kimberley sites 
to the commercial flights out of Broome. The need for this service will be 
reviewed at the end of 2021.

Mandy Beukes set up camp in the Geraldton laboratory in the midst of 
Cyclone Seroja ensuring day shift staff could leave before the red alert was 
called. Mandy ensured the Geraldton community continued to have access to 
pathology services throughout the natural disaster.

Now that’s dedication...
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Teaching and training
PathWest is committed to teaching and training the scientific and medical  
workforce of the future and prides itself on being a training organisation of  
choice. 

PathWest’s investment in teaching and training is integral to the development of 
future staff and provides an opportunity to apply new thinking and innovation to  
the organisation through a range of training programs designed to ensure the 
highest level of skills, competence and knowledge.

Pathology Registrar training
As part of PathWest’s commitment to educating and training pathologists of the 
future, 58 Registrars were part of the 2020/21 pathology registrar training program. 
Registrars are provided five years apprenticeship style training from highly 
experienced consultants, preparing them for a career in their chosen discipline. 

This advanced training leads to certification as a qualified pathologist and 
membership as a Fellow of the Royal College of Pathologists Australasia (RCPA).

Discipline 2020/21

Anatomical Pathology 27

Biochemistry  5 Diagnostic Genomics  1

Forensic Pathology  2

Haematology  13

Immunology  5

Microbiology  5

Total 58
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Professional placements
Each year PathWest supports Australian Institute of Medical Scientists (AIMS) 
accredited university programs with the provision of professional placements within 
a laboratory or pre-analytical/specimen collection setting. By promoting a 
competitive environment, a highly skilled pool of graduates will be available for 
future employment opportunities. The organisation benefits by increasing its 
exposure to potential employees and by establishing professional relationships with 
the institutions that educate its future workforce.

During 2020/21, PathWest hosted students from Curtin University, University of 
Western Australia (UWA) and Murdoch University in a variety of areas.

Pre-analytical placements (Curtin University only)

 Sub-discipline Number of students Length of placement

 Phlebotomy 56 2 weeks

 Central Specimen Reception Area 29 4 weeks

Discipline Placements – six weeks

Haematology Microbiology Biochemistry Anatomical Pathology Immunology Regional Total

 Curtin 16 19 12 18 18 16 99

 UWA 2 5 5 3 6 6 27

 Murdoch 7 3 5 4 19

 Total 25 27 22 25 24 22 145

PathWest is dedicated to the 
teaching and training of 
laboratory medicine and 
phlebotomy students, which 
is viewed as an investment 
in its future. In 2020/21, 
more than 50,000 cumulative 
hours were spent training 
PathWest’s future workforce.
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Certificate III in Pathology Collection 
PathWest has been delivering an accredited phlebotomy training program to the 
public for more than 20 years through an affiliation with North Metropolitan Health 
Service’s (NMHS) Registered Training Organisation. The nationally recognised 
HLT37215 Certificate III in Pathology Collection (Phlebotomy Course) program 
ensures graduates are provided the relevant knowledge, skills and practical 
experience to operate effectively as a specimen collector and phlebotomist within a 
health care setting.

In 2020/21, 45 people graduated from the course with the nationally recognised 
and accredited qualification.

Aboriginal scholarships 
PathWest is committed to increasing Aboriginal employment within its workforce, 
and proudly offers an annual scholarship program for the HLT37215 Certificate III in 
Pathology Collection (Phlebotomy Course) program for Aboriginal people. All course 
fees and associated costs (including workbooks, textbooks and vaccinations) are 
included in the scholarship program. 

In 2020/21, PathWest awarded three scholarships. All graduates are offered a 
three-month fixed term contract at PathWest, with the hope they will continue with 
PathWest.

Aboriginal cadetships
PathWest’s participation in the WA Health Aboriginal Cadetship Program continued 
in 2020/21. Four cadets who commenced in Forensic Pathology, Immunology, 
Microbiology and Biochemistry in 2019/20 continued their 11 months’ paid work 
experience roles this year.

PathWest is committed to the Program, which offers placements to Aboriginal 
students who are enrolled full-time in university across various areas of study and 
will seek to appoint another group of cadets in 2021/22.

Forensic training
Forensic Biology training
As part of PathWest’s partnership with the WAPF, formal teaching and training was 
provided to police officers to ensure they have knowledge about the latest forensic 
techniques and theory.

Topics included an overview of forensic biology, DNA for the investigation of sexual 
assaults, introduction to DNA and forensic DNA profiling, the use of forensic DNA 
profiling for disaster victim identification, and exhibit sampling and evidence 
recovery.

Lectures on similar topics were also provided to the Office of the Director of Public 
Prosecutions and several universities. 

Forensic Pathology training
As part of the PathWest Forensic Pathology and State Mortuary service’s 
partnership with the WAPF, formal teaching and training was provided to police 
officers including police cadets, forensic field officers and homicide unit staff to 
ensure they have knowledge about the most current and relevant forensic 
pathology theory and practice. 

Topics include an overview of forensic pathology, coronial documentation and 
procedure, mortuary operational matters, crime scene, hidden homicide and cold 
case review including exhibit sampling and evidence recovery. 

Lectures on similar topics were also provided to the Office of the Director of  
Public Prosecutions, specialist groups including Fire and Emergency Services and 
Australian Defence Force and several universities. 
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Research
Research is fundamental to the current and future success of PathWest, 
underpinning evidence-based practice and positively contributing to continuous 
improvements in benchtop to bedside care.

Throughout 2020/21, an extensive volume of research was undertaken by 
PathWest, both as primary and secondary researchers, as well as supporting 
multiple hospital research projects with the provision of diagnostic information.

PathWest’s involvement in research activities also provides opportunities for its 
workforce, encourages and improves collaborations - linking clinicians and surgeons 
from HSPs, interstate and local university students and interstate academics with 
pathologists and scientists across all disciplines.

During 2020/21, the Research Governance Unit, led by the Research Governance 
Coordinator and Chief Pathologist:

• Assisted PathWest researchers and collaborators with the requirements for 
research in the WA health system and in the use of Research Governance Service 
(RGS) IT platform.

• Organised for oversight of an Institutional Biosafety Committee for PathWest 
research projects.

• Represented PathWest at HSP and Department of Heath Directors of Research 
meetings.

• Participated in best practice review of HSP/WA Health Human Research Ethics 
Committees by independent consultants on behalf of the WA Department of 
Health. 

• Participated in the Department of Health contracts review group providing input 
into the development of relevant agreements for WA Health, the Research 
Governance Policy and Procedures Mandatory Policy and Biobanks Guidance 
Document for WA Health. 

• Liaised with Department of Health, Research Innovation Office, Legal and 
Legislative Services and State Solicitors Office to develop new Service 
Agreements and a combined Material and Data Transfer Agreement template for 
WA Health.

Involved in more than 

359 
ACTIVE CLINICAL 
RESEARCH PROJECTS 
supported by the FSH Network 
Clinical Trials Management Unit. 

204 
PATHWEST  
PROJECTS IN RGS 

81 
PATHWEST RESEARCH PROJECTS SUBMITTED 
FOR REVIEW

Research in numbers
During 2020/21, PathWest staff were:

PathWest has:

Involved in approximately 

220 
ACTIVE RESEARCH 
PROJECTS 
supported by the QEII Clinical 
Trials Management Unit.

Involvement in 

14 
COVID-19 RESEARCH 
PROJECTS
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Research snapshot

Forensic Biology
DNA Recovery from Archived Microscope Slides in Cold Case  
Sex Assault Investigations

Forensic Biology works closely with WAPF and the Sexual Assault Resource 
Centre (SARC) in the processing of samples collected from victims for DNA 
analysis. In sexual assault investigations, microscope slide smears from swabs 
of the victim’s intimate areas are examined under light microscopy for the 
presence of sperm cells. Coupled with DNA profiling of the collected swabs, 
the results provide contextual information of sexual contact, and may be used 
to confirm or exclude the identity of the suspect. In unsolved sexual assault 
cold cases, microscope slides prepared from swabs taken at the time of 
examination of the victim may be the only items containing potential DNA 
evidence remaining. 

With the introduction of newer and more sensitive methods of DNA analysis  
at Forensic Biology, a DNA extraction method for the isolation of sperm DNA 
from microscope slides was developed. In collaboration with WAPF, archived 
microscope slides from previously solved sexual assault cases between  
1990 - 1995 were reviewed to determine the amount of cellular material  
(with particular attention to the presence of intact sperm cells), and the  
amount of cellular stain still visible under light microscopy. The results 
demonstrated that the optimised laboratory method successfully recovered 
sufficient DNA to generate informative DNA profiles from slides that are over  
20 years old. 

The method is a great addition to Forensic Biology’s service capability and 
provides new strategies to WAPF in the investigation of cold cases. A new  
line of enquiry has now been established to facilitate the recovery and analysis 
of new DNA evidence in cases where no other biological evidence is 
remaining. 

Microbiology FSH
Investigating the unexpected negative result 

Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) is part of a group of 
bacteria colloquially known as “Golden Staph” and is resistant to common 
antibiotics. This bacteria may be carried on a patient’s skin and may cause a 
number of infections. Some of these can be serious such as bloodstream 
infections (bacteraemia).  

Early identification of MRSA bacteraemia may decrease a patient’s length of 
stay in hospital and increase the chance of a successful recovery. In 
collaboration with Murdoch University, using whole genome sequencing (WGS) 
PathWest Microbiology at FSH were able to identify why an “internationally 
used” rapid based diagnostic test failed to detect a patient’s MRSA 
bacteraemia. The findings allowed the company to modify the test’s algorithm, 
restoring the test’s validity.       

Research snapshot
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Biochemistry QEII
Testing for phosphatidylethanol (PEth) in red blood cells as a 
measure of past alcohol exposure

Alcohol consumption is associated with a variety of adverse health and social 
consequences, including liver cirrhosis in extreme cases. Traditional measures 
of alcohol consumption may only be detectable in urine for up to 80 hours after 
consumption of alcohol, and variation exists due to factors such as amount of 
alcohol consumed and individual metabolism.

“False positive” results of these markers may also be seen from bacterial or 
fungal contamination of the urine. Positive results have also been reported 
from inhalation of alcohol-based hand sanitiser.

Conversely, PEth is a direct biomarker for alcohol use and circulating levels 
have been shown to be directly correlated to blood alcohol levels. The stable 
incorporation of PEth into red blood cell membranes results in a longer half-life 
of approximately 10 days enabling a long ‘look back’, i.e. a greater window for 
detecting prior episodes of increased alcohol consumption. 

The long half-life of PEth and its high degree of association with past alcohol 
use arguably makes it the ideal biomarker for clinical use. For example, one of 
the critical issues surrounding liver transplant in patients is monitoring for 
alcohol abstinence, the gold standard when it comes to treatment aims. 

The Clinical Biochemistry Pharmacology and Toxicology department at 
PathWest QEII, has developed a method for incorporating PEth in red cells. 
Combining this method with state-of-the-art liquid chromatography mass 
spectrometry, has enabled a sensitive, quantitative discrimination of non-
drinkers from even low-level consistent drinkers.

Research snapshot
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Research snapshot

Immunology QEII
An assay comparison for routine double stranded  
DNA antibody testing

Double stranded DNA (dsDNA) autoantibodies are associated with Systemic 
Lupus Erythematosus (SLE) and levels of these antibodies correlate with current 
activity of the disease. The gold standard method for diagnostic testing has 
historically been a radioimmunoassay (FARR) which uses radioactively labelled 
DNA to detect the antibodies.  This method has several drawbacks including 
the handling and disposal of the radioactive material and the need to batch the 
testing, making running ad hoc and urgent samples challenging. Alternative 
assay methods are available which are reported in the same units suggesting 
results can be directly compared between methods.

Supply issues twice over the last three years allowed for the assessment and 
implementation of a temporary alternative dSDNA autoantibody testing method 
(FELIA). The initial assessment showed that the FELIA method was an adequate 
alternative method. 

After undertaking a range of tests, the data supports the ongoing routine use 
of the FARR assay to ensure clinically relevant autoantibodies are detected and 
that patient monitoring should be performed using the same assay method.

Microbiology QEII
Respiratory syncytial virus in 2020-21 – learning lessons from  
a unique natural event

Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is a major cause of chest infection in young 
children. Nearly all children are infected in the first few years of life and 
repeated infection can occur throughout life. In older children and adults, it 
usually causes mild disease but can cause pneumonia in older adults or those 
with compromised immune systems. Currently there are few treatments and no 
vaccines, though it is hoped that a vaccine will be available in the next few 
years. 

Understanding how the virus gets into our community, how it spreads and how 
that might be prevented is important to its control. Usually, RSV has a reliable 
winter pattern, but in 2020 this came to a halt in March, coinciding with the 
COVID-19 restrictions, something that had never been seen. Even more 
surprisingly, we had our largest RSV season across spring and summer, 
coinciding with easing of restrictions, which had also never been seen.  
So, it looked like the public health measures for COVID-19 were highly 
effective in controlling the spread of RSV.

Using WGS PathWest Microbiology we were able to track RSV. Before 2020 
there was a mix of RSV strains, but after March 2021all the RSV viruses were 
a single strain. 

Working with colleagues in the Eastern States we found that the same thing 
happened in New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory, but not 
elsewhere in Australia. Further work collaborating with WGS colleagues in 
Sydney, Melbourne and Singapore will look at where these new strains came 
from, which of the public health interventions were most important and how 
that may affect RSV activity in the upcoming years. 
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Anatomical Pathology 
Case series exploration of early mesothelioma in pleural 
effusions: the significance of BAP1 immunohistochemistry and 
CDKN2A/p16 fluorescence in situ hybridisation. 

Australia has one of the highest incidence rates of mesothelioma in the world 
and unfortunately, this disease has a dismal prognosis, with limited treatment 
options.  

PathWest Anatomical Pathology has a pioneering history in the diagnosis of 
mesothelioma, with researchers and diagnostic pathologists in this field 
continuing to represent PathWest in scientific literature, national and 
international panels dedicated to pleural disease. 

Currently, the earliest recognised form of the disease is termed ‘mesothelioma 
in situ’. This disease process was first raised in the literature by Australian 
investigators (1).  These patients usually present with a fluid collection in their 
chest, which pathologists assess for atypical cellular changes.  

Despite the growing interest in mesothelioma in situ, literature on this topic is 
limited, with the largest series of international collaborators only able to 
identify 10 cases for analysis (2). 

In this study and subsequent article, researchers provided the first case series 
exploration detailing two key genetic alterations detectable in cytology 
specimens taken from patients two or more years prior a diagnosis of 
mesothelioma. Using two new tests; BAP1 immunohistochemistry and CDKN2A 
fluorescent in situ hybridisation, the group was able to identify changes in 
these genes/their protein products in cases with either minimal or no 
diagnostic features of mesothelioma in chest fluid samples up to 57 months 
before a definitive diagnosis could be made. 

These findings not only highlight the usefulness of these tests for the diagnosis 
of mesothelioma but raise the possibility of screening at risk patients to 
identify early disease thereby providing a window for novel treatment of this 
uniformly fatal disease. 

The study although straightforward, contains important results that add to the 
limited body of knowledge in this field and reveal avenues for future research. 

1.  Whitaker D, Henderson DW, Shilkin KB. The concept of mesothelioma in situ: implications for 
diagnosis and histogenesis. Seminars in Diagnostic Pathology 1992; 9 (2):151-161.  
2.  Churg A, Galateau-Salle F, Roden A, Attanoos R, von der Thusen J, Tsao M, et al. Malignant 
mesothelioma in situ: morphological features and clinical outcome. Mod Pathol 2020; 33:297-302.

Research snapshot
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The future of research at PathWest
To further enhance research opportunities at PathWest, Chief Pathologist Clinical 
Professor Miles Beaman has developed a three-phase development plan for future 
research activities.

The first phase is set to commence in January 2022 and involves the creation of 
two dedicated research sessions a week per discipline for early career staff under 
supervision of a senior departmental member participating in a defined project, 
likely to be completed within one to two years. 

Successful applicants will be provided with a $10,000 stipend for consumables or 
staff, and required to deliver an annual report, including any publications arising.

A PathWest Research Advisory Group is also planned, with nominees from each 
discipline who will meet regularly to receive and assess applications. This group 
will also assist in the development of phase two and phase three, which will see 
mid-career and senior staff respectively be awarded grants for research projects 
and programs. They will also be responsible for assisting the development of future 
strategic directions for PathWest research.

An investment in research is seen as an investment in the future of PathWest. 
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Our People
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Staff snapshot
PathWest employs 2,303 dedicated staff, committed to providing 
world-leading pathology and forensic services for patients and clients 
across Western Australia, nationally and internationally.

Scientist  39.63%

Technical  32.22% Administration  11.81%

Phlebotomy  6.91% 

Consult pathologist  5.16%
Registrar  2.4% 
IT  1.8% 

Anthropologist  0.05%
Nursing  0.01% 
Odontologist  0.01%

2,303 
staffPathologist

Pathologists are medical doctors specialising in the study of the 
nature and causes of diseases and are certified through the 
RCPA. 

Laboratory or Technical assistant
Laboratory and technical assistants may be involved in: 
• specimen collection
• specimen sorting and registration
• sample processing
• maintaining, calibrating and operating laboratory equipment 
• performing pathology tests.

Administrative staff
Administrative staff across PathWest ensure the efficient and 
effective operation of services within individual departments.

Scientist
AIMS accredited medical scientists often specialise in a 
particular discipline and are required to use cutting-edge 
technology to perform a broad range of tests, as well as conduct 
manual testing using chemicals and viewing cells under a 
microscope.

Phlebotomist
Phlebotomists main role is the collection of blood, urine and other 
specimens from patients in hospitals, laboratories, collection 
centres and via domiciliary (visiting) services across WA. 
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Awarding greatness
Recognition of Service Awards
In November 2020, the inaugural whole of PathWest Recognition of Service Awards 
program was launched, celebrating staff who had given 10 or more years of service 
and dedication to public pathology in Western Australia. 
Given this was the first whole of PathWest awards, more than 1,000 staff from across 
the organisation who had recently reached a milestone year, were celebrated. 
Together, these staff had contributed more than 20,000 years of service to public 
pathology. 
Due to the extraordinary number of recipients who received an award in 2020, staff 
receiving 10 and 20 years of service awards were honoured at local celebrations and 
an exclusive ceremony was held to celebrate PathWest’s longest serving staff, with 
awards presented to the 30-, 40- and 50-years recognition of service recipients. 
The awards will continue in 2021/22, with almost 200 staff expected to be awarded 
Recognition of Service Awards.

John Papadimitriou: 50 years of dedication
Consultant Pathologist John Papadimitriou was recognised for 50 years of service to 
PathWest and public pathology in WA at the 2020 awards ceremony.

For more than five decades, John has been committed to the development of Electron 
Microscopy (EM) in WA. EM is a technique for obtaining high resolution images of 
biological and non-biological specimens. The high resolution of EM images results 
from the use of electrons as the source of illuminating radiation. 

During his career, he has travelled the world building relationships with the best and 
brightest in pathology, especially those with an interest in EM - ensuring he, and 
public pathology in WA, were always at the forefront of this specialised service. 

He established the first EM lab at Royal Perth Hospital (RPH) and was instrumental in 
setting up and consolidating the service at SCGH.

His knowledge and the service he provides is revered across the public and private 
health system, research entities and universities in WA, as well as interstate and 
internationally. His published works on EM are used in laboratories and universities 
worldwide.

The future of pathology, in John’s words, is the advancement of technology and the 
move towards precision medicine.

“Technology has given us a whole new understanding of what is going on, and 
pathologists have had to become more knowledgeable and more technology prone to 
analyse tissues to work out what the disease is,” John said.

“The time will come when all diseases and medicine will become personalised – it’s 
not just that you have cancer, but a cancer that is growing in you and we will be able 
to determine why your genetic makeup allows that tumour to develop in you.”

“Then we will be able to treat you as a distinct person, providing a personalised 
treatment.”

He believes PathWest is on the right track and is embracing all the right technology to 
drive us toward personalised medicine in the future.

John Blennerhassett with Board Chair Prof. Christobel Saunders and CE Joe Boyle.
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Emeritus Consultant Pathologist Awards
Now in its second year, the PathWest Emeritus Consultant Pathologist Awards 
recognises long and distinguished service by PathWest consultant pathologists 
following their retirement.

In May 2021, PathWest appointed three retired consultant pathologists to Emeritus 
Consultant Pathologist status at an awards ceremony held in their honour.

With a cumulative length of service of more than 130 years, Dr Gerard Cadden 
(Forensic Pathology), Dr David McGechie (Microbiology) and Dr Greg Sterrett 
(Anatomical Pathology) left a legacy at PathWest, not only as leaders in their field, 
but also as a mentors, teachers, researchers, colleagues and friends.

Dr Gerard Cadden
During his 37-year service, Dr Cadden 
conducted between 300-400 post 
mortem examinations each year, 
working tirelessly to provide answers 
and closure for many grieving families. 
He worked with both passion and 
compassion, and his work was always 
of a high and professional standard.

During his time, Dr Cadden saw and 
adapted to many changes including the 
introduction of DNA analysis, new 
technology and the post-mortem CT 
scanner, all of which he took to with 
ease and enthusiasm. 

Dr David McGechie
During Dr McGechie’s 42 years of 
distinguished service to PathWest and 
the public hospital system, he took on 
many leadership roles, while balancing 
his commitment to teaching tomorrow’s 
health professionals including sharing 
his experience in managing outbreaks 
of Acinetobacter, Methicillin-resistant 
Staphylococcus aureus and 
Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus.

Dr McGechie was never afraid to be at 
the forefront of change, was an early 
champion of healthcare infection 
surveillance and was instrumental in the establishment of the Microbiology Alert 
system to track antibiotic resistant organisms.

Dr Greg Sterrett
Dr Sterrett is responsible for the 
development of what is now arguably 
one of the world’s best cytopathology 
departments, right here in WA. 

Throughout his 50-year tenure within 
public pathology in Western Australia 
he was a renowned diagnostician in all 
aspects of pathology but in particular in 
the realms of breast, respiratory and 
endocrine pathology and gynaecological 
cytology and was considered the 
‘pathologist’s pathologist’. 
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Geoffrey Kellerman Award
Biochemistry’s Dr Sam Vasikaran was the 2020 recipient of the Australasian 
Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine Geoffrey Kellerman 
Award, recognising an individual’s commitment to:

• advance the study and practice of clinical biochemistry;

• disseminate knowledge of the principles and practice of clinical biochemistry; and

• protect and promote the interests of clinical biochemists.

This national award is one of the highest individual national honours recognising 
commitment to clinical chemistry.

Medal of the Order of Australia
Consultant Clinical Immunologist Associate Professor Richard Loh was awarded the 
Medal of the Order of Australia in January 2021 for service to medicine, 
particularly to clinical immunology.

A/Professor Loh has worked in the WA public health system for more than 27 
years, and in this time has helped countless children and their families living with 
allergic and immunological diseases.

Alongside his commitment to his patients, A/Professor Loh has published and 
presented on food allergy, allergic rhinitis (hay fever), immunotherapy 
(desensitisation), anaphylaxis, drug allergy, insect allergy, urticaria (hives) and 
immunodeficiency, and has been the driving force in the development of 
Australasian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy training courses for health 
professionals and supporting resources.

Connecting with our medical staff
Chief Pathologist Forum
Fostering connections, collaborations and strengthening networks was the focus of 
the first two Chief Pathologist Forums held in 2020/21. 

More than 160 consultant pathologists and several external guests attended the 
forums, hearing the latest trends and research from several speakers from 
PathWest, including Board Chair Professor Christobel Saunders, as well as 
representatives from Murdoch University and Telethon Kids Institute. 

This was an opportunity for information sharing and networking across disciplines 
and a chance to bring the consultant community together. 

Registrar breakfasts
During 2020/21, the Pathwest Board Chair, Chief Executive and Chief Pathologist 
met with some of PathWest’s 59 Registrars during two informal events held at QEII 
and FSH. The aim of the events was to engage with this key staff group, provide an 
update on research and innovation opportunities and hear feedback on their 
experience at PathWest. A forum of this type is expected to continue in 2021/22.
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Profiling our scientific staff
Dr Mark Davis
From collecting DNA from your saliva or blood 
Diagnostic Genomics Scientist in Charge 
(Neurogenetics) Dr Mark Davis can identify 
abnormal and mutated genes as well as markers 
for inherited diseases. With this knowledge, 
comes empowerment that can influence lifestyle 
choices for better health outcomes.

PathWest scientists work to enable precision 
medicine; an emerging approach for treating 
diseases and prevention that considers variability 
in your genes, your environment and your lifestyle 
choices.

Using advanced techniques and the latest 
equipment Dr Mark Davis and his team perform diagnostic testing, carrier 
screening, pre-natal screening for high risk pregnancies and genotyping to predict 
responses to and side effects of therapeutic drugs. This work provides a sense of 
relief from uncertainty and helps West Australians make informed decisions about 
managing their health care.

Linh Truong
As part of the immunogenetics and 
transplantation laboratory team, Medical Scientist 
Linh Truong has contributed to remarkable 
advances in knowledge and technology in the 
field of immunogenetics - considerably enhancing 
the safety of organ transplantation. 

Ground-breaking work by Linh and her supervisor 
has resulted in a world first test which matches 
organs with patients in a matter of hours and can 
predict the likelihood of rejection. This high-
resolution genetic result can be used for matching 
between an organ donor and potential recipients 
in time-constrained settings.

PathWest is the sole provider for tissue typing for solid organ and bone marrow 
transplantation in WA, positioning the work of scientists at the centre of health 
care and medical science. We also provide service to the bone marrow donor 
registry to identify the best matched donors for our patients.

Sam Cornwell
Forensic Scientists like Sam Cornwell rely on traces of DNA invisible to the human 
eye when examining items of interest from the WAPF. In fact, it is possible to 
recover a DNA profile from as little as 25 picograms of DNA (a picogram is one 
trillionth of a gram).

Many alleged crimes dealt with in the PathWest Forensic Biology laboratory do not 
have a potential offender, and our team of expert forensic scientists are able to 
provide investigative leads to the WA Police to aid their investigations.

Sam is part of the 105 strong forensic team who work diligently to receive, 
examine, analyse, interpret and report on evidence from the WAPF, with their work 
behind the scenes leading to the conviction of many criminals in WA.
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Developing our staff
PathWest is committed to building a highly skilled and motivated workforce and 
recognises that investing in the development of employees is integral to supporting 
its strategic directions and performance measures. PathWest provides a range of 
development opportunities for staff which is also integral to attracting and 
retaining a skilled and capable workforce. 

Leadership development 
PathWest recognises the importance of developing its future leaders through 
making an investment in leadership development. 

Pathology leadership program
Since PathWest introduced its own leadership development program in 2018, more 
than 30 staff have completed the program. In 2020/21, the leadership program 
focused on 19 pathologists who had demonstrated leadership qualities and a strong 
desire to enhance their leadership potential. While pathologists only make up six 
per cent of the PathWest workforce, their role in the efficient running of the health 
service is vital. 

The program focused on creating an understanding of the role of the leader in the 
modern organisation and exploring aspects of leadership that relate to leading 
teams and individuals. It provided opportunities and experiences to enable 
participants to enhance their leadership knowledge and skills which, in turn, 
strengthens PathWest’s leadership and succession planning capacity.

Professional development 
PathWest offers a range of part and whole-day training courses, designed to equip 
staff with the ‘soft skills’ to be resilient and effective in the workplace. 

In 2020/21, the annual calendar of training was expanded from 13 to 28 courses 
offered across QEII and FSH sites. New courses on offer included: 
• Customer service training
• Excel training courses
• New and Emerging Leaders course
• Mindfulness at work
• Project Management.

Urine and drug screening accreditation 
Through affiliation with the NMHS’s Registered Training Organisation, PathWest 
delivers the HLTPAT005 - Collect specimens for drugs of abuse testing course to 
phlebotomists and specimen collectors across Western Australia.

Staff performing urine drug screen collections are required, under Australian 
Standards 4308 - Procedures for specimen collection and the detection and 
quantitation of drugs of abuse in urine, to complete an accredited course of study.

Four staff successfully completed the accredited training in 2020/21.

278 
staff members participated in 

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT 
TRAINING COURSES in 2020/21
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Staff training
E-learning 
The PathWest e-learning portal contains all mandatory training courses as well as 
specialist courses such as Customer Service - Specimen Collection and the 
nationally accredited unit of competence, HLTPAT005 Collect Specimens for drugs 
of abuse testing.  

The mandatory Aboriginal Cultural eLearning course was released to all WA health 
system employees during 2021. This new module was developed to continue to 
promote a culturally competent and responsive workforce and builds on the success 
of the previous learning package from 2015.

Safety and Health Training for Managers and Supervisors online training was 
released in July 2020. The training is required under Section 19 of the OSH Act 
1984 (WA) which requires employers to provide information to employees about 
their responsibilities as a manager or supervisor.

In 2020/21, through significant collaboration with HSPs and WA health system, 
PathWest has progressed towards the implementation of a new learning 
management system which is due to be operational by the end of 2021, leading to 
increased consistency, governance and reporting capabilities for online learning.

Mandatory training 
Mandatory compliance as of 30 June 2021 

Aboriginal and Cultural eLearning      86%

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making      89%

Recordkeeping Awareness      89%

Confidentiality      84%

Chemical Safety      77%

Mental health first aid training
Supporting staff health and wellbeing and promoting a mentally  
healthy workplace is a priority for PathWest. In a first for the 
organisation, 51 staff members attended mental health first aid 
training, receiving accreditation as Mental Health First Aid Officers. 

These staff will play an important role in the organisation, acting as a point of 
contact for those experiencing a mental health problem or emotional distress. 
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Staff feedback
Your Voice in Health Survey
The results of the Minister for Health’s second Your Voice in Health staff 
engagement survey were released in July 2020. 

Due to the escalation of COVID-19 at the time of surveying, and the key role 
PathWest played in the pandemic response, participation was significantly  
less than the previous year’s survey and the engagement score also dropped  
five per cent to 57 per cent.

Most PathWest staff reported feeling positive about their role and alignment with 
goals and objectives. They are committed to service delivery and patient care, 
workplace safety and value diversity. Following workshops with staff and the 
extended leadership team, PathWest developed a corporate plan which included 
actions focused on leadership, performance management, health and wellbeing, 
management behaviours and skills, and reward and recognition.

During 2020/21, the majority of PathWest’s corporate actions, developed in 
response to survey results, were completed including:

• Completion of clinical leadership development courses for pathologists

• Over 90 managers attended performance management training

• Commencement or completion of more than 1,100 Annual Development and 
Performance Training (ADAPT) processes 

• Mental Health First Aid training commenced in March 2021

• Promotion of the code of conduct and acceptable behaviours 

• Promotion of the Speak Out program across PathWest.

Discipline/department specific action plans were also developed to address local 
issues, and quarterly reports on the progress of key corporate actions were 
provided to the Minister for Health. 

The third Your Voice in Health survey ran from March to April 2021, with results 
due to be issued in late August 2021.
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COVID-19 – PathWest’s response
Throughout 2020/21, PathWest continued to play an integral role in the State’s 
response to COVID-19. While WA has, as a whole, fared well during the year, the 
impact and demand on PathWest has been constant and evolving. The 
organisation’s ability to be agile and reactive has ensured PathWest has met all 
challenges successfully.   

Despite challenges, including border closures and subsequent changes to testing 
criteria, as well as two lockdowns in the Perth and Peel regions, PathWest 
completed more than 638,000 tests in 2020/21.

The dedicated COVID-19 teams in the QEII and FSH Microbiology laboratories 
provided 24/7 polymerase chain reaction (PCR) testing services and dealt 
extraordinarily well with a number of surge events throughout the year. Several 
different platforms for routine and rapid diagnosis were also installed in both 
laboratories during the year ensuring, for the most part, that turn-around-times 
were kept within 24 hours for routine testing and within two hours for urgent 
testing.

The metropolitan team was bolstered by increased testing capacity and capability 
in regional WA with GeneXpert analysers installed to provide local rapid testing 
when required.

The Environmental Microbiology Unit (EMU) expanded its capability to also offer 
COVID-19 waste water testing as part of an Australia-wide initiative (ColoSSos/
WaterRA Project) to provide public health surveillance and early detection systems 
for COVID-19. 

Pre-analytical services continued to provide frontline and behind the scene support 
to the COVID-19 response. The expansion of the COVID-19 Command structure 
during 2020/21 ensured the efficient management of a sustainable and flexible 
service to provide hotel, airport, shipping, defence force and domiciliary collections, 
as well as respond and adapt to various outbreaks and testing surges including the 
establishment of a pop-up clinic and testing bus.

PathWest also developed training and assessment tools to provide COVID-19 swab 
and personal protective equipment (PPE) training and assessment for other HSPs, 
both public and private, as well as St John Ambulance and NurseWest.

At a glance 
COVID-19 specimen collections
Total specimens collected 207,996 in 2020/21

Collection location Tests

Quarantine hotel – guestsQuarantine hotel – guests 74,267

Quarantine hotel – staff 122,106

Domiciliary/visiting collects 5,474

Airport – Domestic arrivals 5,042

ECU pop up 1,107

Total 207,996
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Testing performed
Total number of tests 638,613 in 2020/21

Performing Lab Tests

Albany 378

Busselton 208

Broome 1,016

Bunbury 326

Carnarvon 42

Derby 446

Esperance 101

Geraldton 512

Port Hedland 285

KEMH 64

Kalgoorlie 354

Karratha 492

Kununurra 735

Narrogin 172

Northam 130

RPH 354

FSH 253,659

QEII 379,339

Total COVID-19 Tests 638,613

Activity source

Source of activity Tests

Regional WA 65,843

Hotel quarantine 125,214

Metro inc. COVID-19 Clinics 413,182

Airport 34,374

Total 638,613

Genomic variants detected
4 – Alpha, Beta, Gamma and Delta
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Genomic sequencing
PathWest is the only laboratory in Western Australia that performs COVID-19 
whole genome sequencing.

Genomics has been progressively establishing its role in the diagnosis, 
characterisation and tracking of infectious organisms over the past decade. This 
has particularly been expanding since the availability of the NGS, which includes 
WGS that has allowed PathWest to sequence much larger genomes of viruses, 
bacteria, fungi and parasites. 

The COVID-19 pandemic provided a massive challenge for PathWest’s developing 
NGS service within the Microbiological Surveillance Unit at the QEII Medical 
Centre. 

From the beginning of the pandemic, it was clear that WGS was required to 
identify the sources of the virus and to track its spread internationally, nationally 
and within WA. From the time of the first wave in March 2020, WGS information 
was used in combination with data from Public Health colleagues to identify 
SARS-CoV-2 in individuals and clusters within WA, and to show they were 
successfully controlled. 

Using WGS, PathWest was able to unequivocally prove that the public health 
interventions successfully controlled the spread of COVID-19 within WA. 

This has required a rapid expansion of skills in the performance of WGS, and in the 
interpretation of the massive amount of information it generates. The addition of 
bioinformaticians to PathWest staff has been essential. 

The Surveillance Unit is continually refining how WGS data is used to inform public 
health responses and, in the future to predict the behaviour of the virus and how 
illness can be most effectively prevented or treated.  

With the technical refinements and the new skills that have flowed from the 
COVID-19 experience, the time required to get a WGS has reduced from one to two 
weeks to one to two days, delivering a huge benefit to the public health response. 
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Wastewater testing
PathWest’s Environmental Microbiology Unit (EMU) played a key role in the State’s 
COVID-19 wastewater surveillance program, which commenced in October 2020.

The program, which tests untreated sewage from treatment plants for fragments of 
COVID-19 across the State, is a collaboration between Department of Health, 
PathWest and the Water Corporation.

The wastewater testing program is one part of the ongoing surveillance for 
COVID-19, with samples taken from six metropolitan locations: Alkimos, Beenyup, 
Gordon Rd, Point Peron, Subiaco and Woodman Point. Additionally, there are 10 
regional localities where testing is conducted: Albany, Broome, Bunbury, Busselton, 
Esperance, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie, Karratha, Northam and South Hedland.

PathWest has identified COVID-19 in a number of water samples, mostly at the 
Subiaco catchment which is connected to the quarantine hotels.

Front of the frontline
Since the start of the pandemic, PathWest has been at the frontline, with a team 
working whenever and wherever needed to collect more than 206,000 samples, 
including from:

• Perth Airport – domestic arrivals

• Hotel quarantine – staff and guests

• Cargo ship passengers

• Home domiciliary

• Other domiciliary, including testing workers in shipping, defence and private 
health care.

In June 2021, PathWest also established its first pop-up clinic at Edith Cowan 
University – Joondalup Campus to assist in collection efforts during a five-day 
lockdown collecting more than 1,100 specimens during this time.
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Research
Air travel transmission
In September 2020, the Emerging Infectious Diseases Journal published a paper 
titled Flight-Associated Transmission of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome 
Coronavirus 2 Corroborated by Whole-Genome Sequencing.

The findings were a result of a collaboration of scientific work between PathWest, 
Metropolitan Communicable Disease Control (MCDC), Public Health Emergency 
Operation Centre, the University of Notre Dame and the University of Western Australia.

The research found that flight-associated SARS-CoV-2 transmission occurred on a 
medium-haul flight from Sydney to Perth in March 2020, leading to the infection of 
at least eight other passengers.

PathWest diagnosed the cases and worked with MCDC at the WA Department of 
Health to identify cases that may have acquired their SARS-CoV-2 infection on this 
flight. PathWest’s Microbiological Surveillance Unit carried out the WGS that 
proved that most cases had a unique strain of the virus, which had originated on 
the Ruby Princess cruise ship.  

PathWest worked with the MCDC to bring together the epidemiological and 
virological data that showed that the spread of the virus among the passengers and 
their contacts was related to the air travel.  

WA COVID-19 Collaborative
In February 2021, PathWest was awarded $788,436 to establish a longitudinal 
cohort study of Western Australians who have recovered from COVID-19, their 
close contacts, and people who will be among the first to be vaccinated. The  
WA COVID-19 Collaborative (WACIC), led by Clinical Professor Dominic Mallon, will 
monitor these groups over a two-year period, collecting blood, saliva, and mouth 
swabs. 

By 30 June 2021, 68 people who had recovered from COVID-19 and 13 of their 
close contacts had been recruited, with the study set to commence in 2021/22. 
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Equipment Quantity Unit cost Total 

BioRad CFX384 Touch System 4 $33,000 $132,000

Cepheid Infinity 48-48 2 $303,294 $606,588

Formulatrix Mantis Liquid Handling Instruments 2 $65,925 $117,409

Bio-Strategy Hamilton STARlet 8 AL automated liquid handlers 2 $176,000 $352,000

Thermo Fisher Scientific KingFisher Extraction Instruments 3 $85,906 $257,718

Cepheid GeneXpert instruments (new) 8 $31,700 $253,600

Cepheid GeneXpert instruments (ex-rental) 6 $20,000 $120,000

Perkin Elmer Janus G3 Liquid Handler 1 $67,402 $67,402

Illumina ISeq 100 instruments 2 $22,725 $45,450

Total $1,952,167

Analysers increase testing capacity in the Kimberley
In response to an increase in intrastate and interstate travel, and 
with direct flights operating from the eastern states to Broome, 
the PathWest laboratory in Broome received two additional 
GeneXpert units in June 2021. This ensured the Kimberley town 
could increase capability to perform COVID-19 testing locally if 
required. 

Equipment boost 
To ensure PathWest had the capacity to respond to the increased demands on the 
molecular diagnostic teams, almost $2 million was spent on equipment to boost 
COVID-19 testing capacity within the laboratories. 
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Stepping up for surveillance
On a normal day, you will find Gerry Russell (pictured right) working as a Contract 
Administrator based at PathWest FSH. However, during COVID-19 surges, Gerry 
steps up to undertake contact tracing within the Public Health Emergency 
Operations Centre based at the Department of Health, which Gerry describes as a 
“full-on military operation”.

Contact tracing is the process of identifying people who a COVID-19 positive person 
has come in contact with while infectious and is an essential part of the process to 
stop COVID-19 spreading further through the community.

Gerry said that she experienced a proud moment witnessing first hand, the integral 
part that PathWest performed since the start of the pandemic, as well as within 
the surveillance space – providing efficient testing services and supporting the 
contact tracing team for the community.  

“There are lots of reasons why, but PathWest is definitely a big part of the reason 
the WA community has been able to remain relatively safe during this pandemic,” 
Gerry said.  

Vaccinations
With PathWest playing such an integral role in the response to COVID-19, key staff 
were some of the first in the State to be vaccinated for COVID-19 in February 2021, 
including COVID-19 specimen collectors and laboratory staff processing or analysing 
COVID-19 specimens. 

By early March, all staff across the organisation became eligible to receive the 
vaccination, and by 30 June 2021 70 per cent of PathWest staff had received their 
first vaccination with just under 65 per cent receiving both.
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LIS roll out
PathWest has entered a new era of pathology reporting, with the completion of the 
major LIS roll-out in October 2020.

The $50.5 million LIS, which replaced several ageing systems and databases, is now 
live across the State in PathWest’s 76 collection centres and 27 laboratories, 
representing one of the most significant developments in Western Australian public 
pathology services in 30 years.

As one of the biggest system implementations of its kind worldwide, the new LIS 
provides greater digital enablement and interoperability across all pathology 
disciplines including biochemistry, microbiology, immunology, haematology, 
diagnostic genomics and anatomical pathology, as well as in the community at 
PathWest’s collection centres and behind the scenes in financial services. 

The roll-out of the system across WA occurred in phases throughout 2020, pausing 
briefly due to COVID-19, with the final migration of transfusion medicine in October.

PathWest continues to work with the vendor to bed down the system to ensure 
swift resolution of any issues and increase system optimisation.

It is anticipated that Forensic Pathology and the State Mortuary will migrate to the 
new system in in 2021/22, enabling enhanced reporting on post-mortem procedures 
for the State Coroner and WA justice system.

Thank you 
The roll-out of LIS is the culmination of a tremendous amount of work over several 
years by SCC Soft Computer, the LIS Project team and PathWest staff, who should 
all be proud of their efforts.

“Probably the most significant achievement for the last year has been the 
implementation of the new LIS. Haematology has implemented six modules which 
has been a very substantial achievement. The project has required PathWest staff to 
work with Soft to build and test the new modules prior to implementation. The work 
continues post implementation with ongoing optimisation of the product. This has 
been a demanding project for laboratory staff and we are grateful to those who 
have contributed to its success.” – Dr Paul Cannell – Head of Department, Haematology FSH

2015 

The LIS Replacement 
Project was initiated.

2017

Announcement of 
funding and awarding 
contract to SCC Soft 
Computer.

February 
2020

The system was 
successfully piloted at 
Busselton and Bunbury 
laboratories

March 
2020

The project was briefly 
deferred due to 
COVID-19 related 
critical and high priority 
tasks taking precedence 
for PathWest and other 
HSPs, as well as the 
impact on project 
resources following 
flight and border 
restrictions. 

June 
2020

System rollout 
recommenced and was 
completed in 
September 2020 in a 
staged site-by-site 
process.

September
2020

Final sites Armadale, 
FSH and QEII went 
live.

October
2020

The transfusion 
medicine module went 
live across PathWest.

A brief timeline
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Microbiome with LifeBlood and FSH
It’s a donation that most people flush away, but PathWest Microbiology is assisting 
with LifeBlood’s Microbiome Project performing donor screening services for a 
program providing life-changing faecal microbiota for transplant. 

WA is currently the only State taking part in this project, which will help treat 
patients suffering from life-threatening recurrent Clostridioides difficile infection. 

Recurrent Clostridioides difficile infection is a serious bacterial infection within the 
gut, that cannot be fixed using antibiotics. However, 70–90 per cent of patients can 
be successfully treated through faecal microbiota transplants. 

PathWest process and test stools from healthy donors and provide to clinicians at 
FSH to transplant into patients allowing good, healthy microbiota to replace gut 
microbiota that may be making the patient sick. 

Investing in equipment
The use of contemporary technology and equipment at PathWest has continued to 
expand, with pathologists and scientific staff provided with the latest instruments 
to maintain a high standard pathology testing service. More than $1.9 million was 
allocated to purchase the latest technology and equipment for PathWest.

Item/s Value

Coagulation Instruments $63,750

Stat PCR system $45,450

Urinary analyser $115,000

Incubators $12,754

Fridges and freezers $50,294

Tissue processors $295,000

Robotic Handler $37,720

Thermal Cyclers $34,947

Immunofluorescence side stainers $250,475

Genetic analyser $185,507

Viscoelastic testing (Rotem) $160,245

Pathfinders $224,533

Blood Gas Analysers $143,500

Waters XEVO TQS $295,971

UV/Vis Spectrophotometer $40,248

  $1,955,394
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Kimberley patients benefiting from good relationships
From Broome in Yawuru land to the furthest community of Balgo (1000kms from 
Broome) in Gugadja land along the Great Sandy Desert, PathWest laboratories in 
the Kimberley provide collection and testing services to ensure people living in one 
of the State’s most remote regions can more easily manage their health and health 
conditions.

PathWest Broome provides primary pathology services to support Aboriginal 
Medical Services and more than 20 indigenous and remote communities throughout 
the Kimberley.

PathWest Broome Scientist in Charge Ray Brockenshire said indigenous pathology 
easily makes up the majority of its work and is indicative of the importance of 
pathology in managing indigenous health in the Kimberley. 

“Many health conditions found here are similar to those you might see in a third 
world country, so providing fast, accurate test results is incredibly important in 
ensuring positive health outcomes for our people,” Ray said.

“We also provide essential education and training programs to local health 

organisations and communities, and work to be the “link” connecting health 
agencies, hospitals, general practitioners and Aboriginal Medical Services in the 
community.”  

At the heart of the success of PathWest’s local initiatives in the Kimberley, is 
respect for local indigenous culture and embracing the special relationship 
PathWest has nurtured with Aboriginal corporations and communities in the area. 
This has led to PathWest being accepted as the pathology provider of choice 
amongst Aboriginal Medical Services in the Kimberley. 

“The success of our initiatives really brings home how important the work we do is, 
and how much respect there is for us,” Ray said. 

Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Service Chief Operating Officer and PathWest Board 
member Rob McPhee said Aboriginal Medical Services in the Kimberley are 
delivering primary health care in some of the most remote locations in the country. 

“Access to reliable and timely pathology is an essential part of providing high 
quality health care to those living in these remote communities,” Mr McPhee said.

The success of our initiatives really brings home 
how important the work we do is, and how much 
respect there is for us,         Ray said.
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Eyedrops for transplant patients
The PathWest Bone Marrow Transplant Laboratory (BMTL) processes both 
autologous and allogeneic haematopoietic stem cell products for recipients at Fiona 
Stanley Hospital. 

As well as dealing with transplant products, the laboratory manufactures a niche 
product called autologous serum eye drops (EDS). 

These eye drops are manufactured within the BMTL cleanrooms from the patient’s 
own blood. Processing of EDS involves separating serum from red cells by 
centrifugation, followed by the addition of sterile saline to the separated serum 
component. The serum/saline mixture is then filtered and divided into 2ml dropper 
bottles. Up to 60-100 bottles are manufactured at one time per patient depending 
on initial serum volume. 

EDS are used as artificial tears to treat conditions where the surface of the eye is 
extremely dry due to damage, insufficient tear production or poor-quality tears. 

All patients receiving EDS products are post allogeneic transplant patients with a 
condition called graft versus host disease (GVHD). GVHD is a condition some 
patients experience post allogeneic stem cell transplant where the donors T cells 
begin to view the recipient as foreign, leading to severe dry eyes. 

One of the benefits of using EDS versus commercial artificial eye drops is that 
some of the compounds found in EDS are found in natural tears, these include 
antibodies, albumin, Vitamin A, and special growth factors important for healthy 
eyes known as epidermal growth factors. 

The prepared EDS bottles are stored in the patient’s freezer to delay the growth of 
harmful microorganisms for up to three months. FSH patients are instructed to thaw 
one vial at a time for daily use. BMTL manufacture and distribute approximately 
150 EDS products a year.

I have been using the EDS for about five years. It was discovered that 
I was only producing very negligible amounts of tears myself and all four 
tear ducts were subsequently cauterized to help prevent topical lubricants 
from draining away. 
The haematology team at FSH recommended I try serum eyedrops for my 
worsening chronic dry eye condition. These have helped enormously from 
the start and have been significantly more effective than over the counter 
dry eye treatments.
I would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone at the transplant 
lab for their efforts to continually produce eyedrops for me, even during 
times of lockdown and restrictions, and for their welcoming and efficient 
practices.

Elizabeth Shearley – Bone marrow transplant recipient 
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Finding answers for bereaved parents
In June 2021, the PathWest Perinatal Pathology Department received $250,000 
from the Commonwealth Department of Health to develop educational interventions 
to promote an increase in the rate of stillbirth autopsies in WA.

The Perinatal Pathology Department is responsible for performing most stillbirth 
autopsies and has one of the highest rates of stillbirth autopsies in the country. 
This is due, in part, to the dedicated bereavement officers, social workers and 
maternity staff who work alongside clinicians and pathologists to help guide 
families through the autopsy process. 

The collaborative project between PathWest and King Edward Memorial Hospital 
will address some of the key priorities set out in the National Stillbirth Action and 
Implementation Plan (2020), which has the overarching vision to: 

• reduce the number of stillbirths in Australia; 

• reduce disparities in stillbirth rates between population groups; 

• raise community awareness and understanding of stillbirth; 

• and ensure high-quality bereavement care and support is available to families 
who experience stillbirth.

PathWest is committed to helping more parents understand the cause of a 
stillbirth, and through partnerships with hospital-based maternity services will seek 
to implement a range of targeted educational interventions for clinicians, women 
and families to promote the increase of stillbirth autopsy rates in WA by: 

• Developing a clear understanding, through qualitative review and research, of the 
decision-making process and decision drivers for families making the stillbirth 
autopsy decision. 

• Through consultation co-designing and developing a range of online and 
traditional education resources to complement existing stillbirth resources for 
families to assist in stillbirth autopsy decision making. 

• Supporting the development of a stronger WA network of stillbirth resources with 
greater inclusion and consideration of the benefits and the understanding of these 
autopsies. 
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Forensics in the spotlight
For more than two decades, the PathWest Forensic Biology Department was 
dedicated to the analysis, preparation and presentation of complex scientific 
evidence for the Claremont Serial Killer case.

At the helm of the Forensic Biology Department is Dr Gavin Turbett, who is 
unreservedly proud of his team, and the part they played in the investigation and 
judicial proceedings and the recognition they have received. 

“The team is well trained, committed and dedicated to deliver services of the 
highest standards, and I am pleased to see the acknowledgement of their work and 
the staff involved,” Gavin said.

For the laboratory itself, the Claremont case was one of many – each as important 
as the next. They know the critical role they play supporting the WA Police Force, 
the State Coroner, the WA justice system, and ultimately the people of WA.

“The laboratory has worked diligently over time to develop this unique and critical 
service for the State and has always sought to ensure that the latest technologies 
and processes are introduced as they have become available,” Gavin said. 

Last year alone they analysed more than 56,000 crime scene exhibits and reference 
samples in about 11,000 cases, as well as continued their essential work on cold 
case investigations and significant contributions to the State and National DNA 
databases. 

 “We are committed to ensuring our service remains at the forefront of evolving 
best-practice forensic analysis, and we constantly assess and introduce the latest 
cutting-edge forensic science innovations.”  

As to quality standards at PathWest, I was impressed with the  
care and attention to detail of the witnesses who gave evidence. The 
laboratory maintained NATA accreditation throughout the relevant 
period, and I have no reason to believe that this accreditation was 
undeserved. Whilst standards regarding quality control and the use of 
PPE changed over the years, PathWest maintained the appropriate 
standards at all times.

Justice Hall ruling in The State of Western Australia v Edwards  
– 24 September 2020.

PathWest is proud of its staff and welcomes the recognition its 
Forensic Biology service has recently received. For more than two 
decades the team of expert forensic biologists have been dedicated to 
the analysis, preparation and presentation of complex scientific evidence 
for this case and we are pleased to see the acknowledgement of the 
standards and quality of our work and the staff involved.

PathWest Chief Executive Joe Boyle – 25 September 2020

We thank the scientists at ChemCentre and PathWest here in Perth 
for their dedicated, tenacious and very comprehensive work leading to 
the second major breakthrough. 

Dennis Glennon – 24 September 2020

I want to acknowledge the forensic experts, particularly those from 
PathWest… that provided such vital forensic evidence before the court,

WA Police Force Commissioner Chris Dawson – 24 September 2020.
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BloodNet roll-out
PathWest successfully integrated its new LIS transfusion medicine module, 
SoftBank, with the National Blood Authority’s (NBA) BloodNet LIS interface.

The BloodNet-SoftBank LIS interface, was introduced throughout PathWest’s  
27 laboratories in Western Australia in January 2021 – the first and largest 
connection of its kind in Australia.

The successful integration is the culmination of five years’ collaborative work 
between NBA, PathWest and SCC Soft Computer, and will ultimately lead to 
greater time saving and data accuracy – integral to positive patient outcomes.

The integration is providing more reliable and efficient processes for requesting, 
tracking, receiving and billing for blood products, and allows PathWest to transfer 
data between all stakeholders in the blood sector in near-real time.

The major benefit of BloodNet integration is time saving. The elimination of manual 
entry of component and product information during the inventory delivery process is 
a measurable time saving for all involved.  

Accuracy and safety of product information is also improved through the 
integration, with information such as product identification, expiration date/time, 
antigens and patient assignment transferred electronically eliminating manual 
transcription errors.  

New era of endotoxin testing
In August 2020, PathWest invested in a 
new method of testing for endotoxins in 
final rinse water used in the specialised 
machines that disinfect reusable medical 
devices (RMDs) such as endoscopes. This 
method better supports the environment 
and reduces the impact on the world 
‘living fossils’ the Horseshoe crab.

Endotoxin is a type of pyrogen (fever-
causing agent) and is a component of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria, like 
E. coli. Not just indicators of bacterial contamination, endotoxins are themselves 
very harmful to humans if introduced into sterile sites or the bloodstream. There 
are Australian Standards to ensure that RMDs that are reprocessed by hospitals 
are adequately disinfected to protect patients. The level of endotoxin is also 
measured in final rinse water to ensure the equipment is safe for use.

Passionate about reducing the laboratory’s impact on the natural eco-system,  
Dr Robin Woodward, Medical Scientist in Charge (Waters) said, “We have chosen 
an assay different from the traditional gel clot and other methods of testing that 
rely on harvesting copper-based “blue blood” from the Horseshoe crab. This new 
method protects these creatures while providing a more accurate quantitative 
result.”

Horseshoe crabs are among the world’s oldest and most fascinating creatures, 
estimated to be at least 300 million years old, appropriately nicknamed “living 
fossils”. These ancient arthropods are a vital food source for the migration of 
thousands of shorebirds en route to their breeding grounds in the Arctic. The crab’s 
blood contains limulus amoebocyte lysate (LAL), which forms clots in the presence 
of endotoxin. This has traditionally been used to test the level of endotoxins in final 
rinse water, intravenous drugs, heart valves, and other prosthetics.

Using a newly acquired Fluorescence Microplate Reader not only enables a more 
accurate quantitative result but importantly means PathWest no longer relies on 
the blood of Horseshoe crabs.
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Mackenzie’s Mission 
The team involved in Mackenzie’s Mission is preparing to scale up the work for 
translation into practice, with two Medicare funding applications being assessed 
including “core” testing for prevalent disorders and extended reproductive carrier 
screening.

Mackenzie’s Mission, the Australian Reproductive Carrier Screening Project, is a 
$20m Medical Research Future Fund project to investigate the feasibility of  
making genetic carrier screening freely available to all Australian couples who 
want to use it. 

PathWest’s Department of Diagnostic Genomics commenced work on Mackenzie’s 
Mission in 2019 and is one of three NATA-accredited laboratories in Australia 
analysing the samples, with the PathWest laboratory receiving samples from 
couples in Western Australia, Queensland and South Australia. For Western 

Australian couples the PathWest lab is identifying around 2.5 per cent, or  
1:40 couples, as being at high risk of having a child affected because of variants in 
one of the 1,300 genes/750 different autosomal or X-linked recessive diseases that 
Mackenzie’s Mission is screening for. 

One of the outcomes of the project is to assess if reproductive carrier screening for 
more prevalent disorders such as cystic fibrosis, fragile X, and spinal muscular 
atrophy is an adequate first tier screening test to capture a major proportion of 
couples at risk of having a baby with a serious genetic condition. The project 
testing algorithm extends beyond the “big three” to include known rare diseases 
which collectively have a significant impact on families and health care.  

The possibility of future expansion of the reproductive carrier screening program 
into routine practice will be a major step forward.
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Our Significant Issues
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Infrastructure improvements
State Mortuary upgrade
In 2020, PathWest received $7.5 million funding approval to undertake a major 
upgrade of the State Mortuary, ensuring the mortuary is future-proofed to continue 
delivering high quality and efficient services across WA.

The upgrade will increase the facility’s capacity and will feature:

• Larger admissions area to better facilitate body admission and release

• Increased body storage

• Larger infectious autopsy theatre with an adequately sized airlock 

• Increased workstations

• State-of-the-art post-mortem theatres 

• Audio-visual facilities 

• A dedicated crime suite for the WAPF

• Increased security controls

• Increased storage for consumables and samples.

During 2020/21, extensive work has been undertaken by the project team and 
Steering Committee together with the Department of Finance, Department of  
Public Prosecution, State Coroner and WAPF and Iredale Pedersen Hook 
Architectural firm on the development and design.

Construction is expected to commence in November 2021, with completion due in 
December 2022.

Kununurra laboratory and collection space 
relocation 
The relocation of the Kununurra laboratory and collection spaces will provide a 
modern, more open plan laboratory space enabling the laboratory to accommodate 
additional equipment to meet service demand.

During 2020/21, PathWest worked with stakeholders including representatives from 
the WA Country Health Service to identify work flows and equipment locations 
given the limitations of the structure in converting to open plan. A design scope is 
expected to be issued in September 2021, with completion of works anticipated by 
May 2022. 

E Block upgrade
PathWest’s ageing collection space in E Block - QEII is set to be dramatically 
improved, with seven collection rooms, dedicated pathology reception, trolley 
recharge stations, staff breakout area, consumables store and office spaces to be 
revamped to provide a more modern and appropriate workspace. 

These changes aim to improve the experience for the 9,000 plus patients who visit 
the collection centre each year. 

Pre-work commenced in June 2021, with completion expected in September/
October 2021.
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Key Performance Indicators
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Certification of  
key performance indicators 
PATHWEST LABORATORY MEDICINE WA
CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, 
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess PathWest’s performance, 
and fairly represent the performance of PathWest for the financial year ended  
30 June 2021. 

Prof. Christobel Saunders AO   
Board Chair     
PathWest    
16 September 2021     

Performance Management 
Framework 
The Outcome Based Management (OBM) framework describes how outcomes, 
services and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are used to measure WA Health 
system performance. 

PathWest is responsible for delivering and reporting against:

• Outcome 2 - Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care 
services that help Western Australians to live healthy and safe lives.

“Pathology Services”, was included in WA Health’s OBM framework to recognise 
PathWest’s establishment as a Statutory Authority as of 1 July 2018.

The OBM KPIs measure the effectiveness and efficiency of the services delivered 
against agreed State Government priorities and desired outcomes.
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Performance Management Framework 
The alignment of 2020/21 PathWest KPIs to State Government and WA Health system goals are demonstrated below:

Strong communities – Safe communities and supported families.   WA GOVERNMENT GOAL

Delivery of safe, quality, financially sustainable and accountable healthcare for all Western Australians.   WA HEALTH SYSTEM GOAL

Pathology Services – The provision of State-wide external diagnostics services across the full range of pathology 
disciplines inclusive of forensic biology and pathology services to other WA Government agencies and services provided 
to the public by PathWest. This service also includes these operational costs of PathWest in delivering these services to 
both health services providers and the public.

   SERVICE DELIVERED

Outcome 2 – Prevention, health promotion and aged and continuing care services that help Western Australians 
to live healthy and safe lives   WA  HEALTH OUTCOMES

   PATHWEST’S KEY
   PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Key effectiveness indicator
KPI 1 – Percentage of PathWest test 
results available to Emergency Departments 
(ED) within the required timeframe  
(in laboratory to validated time):  
(a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes);  
(b) Potassium (40 minutes);  
(c) Troponin (50 minutes.

Key effectiveness indicator
KPI 2 – Percentage of PathWest 
Pathology Quality Assurance 
Program results within an 
acceptable range.

Key efficiency indicator
KPI 3 – Average cost of pathology 
services per test panel.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
PathWest works closely with several government and non-government agencies to deliver pathology and forensic services for the State to achieve the targets set out 
in the WA Health 2020/21 OBM key performance indicator data definition manual.
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Key Effectiveness Indicators
KPI 1
Percentage of PathWest test results available to 
Emergency Departments (ED) within the required 
timeframe (in laboratory to validated time):  
(a) Haemoglobin (40 minutes);  
(b) Potassium (40 minutes);  
(c) Troponin (50 minutes).

Turnaround times (TATs) for pathology tests are widely used as an indication of 
overall pathology service performance. In an ED, timely availability of pathology 
test results is crucial for accurate and timely diagnosis and commencement of 
appropriate treatment. Improvements in pathology TATs can also impact the overall 
functioning of EDs by reducing the length of patient episodes and improving 
throughput.

This performance indicator is based on three indicators produced by the Australian 
Council of Healthcare Standards (ACHS). The selection of these specific tests is due 
to their critical role in diagnosing potentially life-threatening conditions in an 
emergency setting. 

Results
551,009 tests from 11 hospital EDs were assessed against the targets during 
2020/21. Haemoglobin and potassium TATs were well within targets and were an 
improvement on 2019/20 results. Troponin I TATs were below target due to a 
change in testing protocols whereby confirmatory repeat testing was completed for 
first time high results. The change in testing protocol provides a higher quality 
result but extends the time to provide the result.

Test 2019/20
Actual 

2020/21
Target

2020/21
Actual 

Haemoglobin 94.5% 88% 96.1%

Plasma Potassium 75.0% 67% 76.9%

Troponin I 76.8% 74% 71.7%

Data Source: ULTRA and SCC Soft LIS, via PathWest data warehouse. PathWest 
implemented a new LIS across its 27 laboratories between February 2020 and 
October 2020. The data provided is a combination of the both old (ULTRA) and new 
(SCC Soft) LIS data sets.

Note: This KPI is based on ACHS indicators which are specific to pathology 
requests from EDs only. Due to the inconsistent classification of emergency activity 
in smaller regional hospitals (eg Public acute groups C and D21), these sites are 
excluded from this KPI. 
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KPI 2 
Percentage of PathWest Pathology Quality Assurance 
Program (QAP) results within an acceptable range.

Outcome: 2

Outcome area: Effectiveness

Rationale
PathWest performs more than 11 million test panels per year. Tests that fail quality 
assurance may produce erroneous results, leading to misdiagnosis and 
mistreatment of patients and delays in diagnosis or treatment, leading to increased 
morbidity or mortality.

QAPs are provided for all pathology disciplines and are developed with assistance 
from professional bodies and with significant input from participating laboratories.

PathWest is enrolled in a number of external QAPs to meet mandatory accreditation 
requirements. 

The RCPA has the most extensive QAP in Australasia that has over 1,000 
submissions from laboratories. 

Results

Division 2019/20
% Passed

2020/21
Target

2020/21
% Passed

Anatomical Pathology 98.1%  100% 99.2%

South East Division 98.4% 100% 97.6%

North West Division 98.6% 100% 98.4%

Regional Services 96.9% 100% 95.3%

PathWest Total 97.6% 100% 96.3%

114,570 QAP tests submitted to the RCPA for validation were included in the KPI 
measurement for 2020/21. The reported results for 2020/21 are based on 
submissions made during 2020/21 and where results were received up to and 
including 30 June 2021 as per the KPI definition.  

The cut-off date of 30 June was introduced for 2020/21. In 2019/20 some results 
received after 30 June were included as per the 2019/20 KPI definition. The impact 
on the 2019/20 results is minimal and both years are comparable.

Results received after 30 June 2021 were also reviewed and were consistent with 
the reported results.

The target of 100 per cent is an aspirational target to drive performance 
improvements.  

Out of target QAP results may arise from analyser variations, sample integrity, 
administrative errors or testing anomalies.   

Data Source: RCPA QAP survey result reports. 
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Key Efficiency Indicator
KPI 3
Average cost of pathology services per test panel

Rationale
The purpose of this indicator is to provide a longitudinal measure of the financial 
efficiency of PathWest in the delivery of clinical and health pathology services across 
WA.

Results

Items 2019/20 2020/21

Expenditure $287,125,854 $323,321,313

Activity: test panels* 10,426,812 11,944,578

Average cost per test 
panel

$27.54 $27.07

Target $28.00 $28.00

Result Summary 
Average cost per test panel was below the target mainly due to much higher 
activity in 2020/21. There was a catch-up surge of patient activity that followed 
the COVID-19 pandemic related decrease in patient activity between March and 
May 2020. This surge in patient activity combined with 638,613 COVID-19 tests led 
to a 14.6 per cent increase in pathology testing in 2020/21.

*PathWest implemented a new laboratory information system (LIS) across its  
27 laboratories between February 2020 and October 2020. The activity data 
provided is a combination of the both old (Ultra) and new (SCC Soft) LIS datasets. 

Test configuration in the two LISs are slightly different and much work was 
undertaken with subject matter experts to normalise the reporting of activity data 
between the two systems. Whilst the activity counts may be slightly different, the 
difference is significantly less than the impact of COVID-19 on decreasing 2019/20 
activity and increasing 2020/21 activity.

Expenditure also increased because of general activity growth and COVID-19 
testing.

Data Sources: 

ULTRA and SCC Soft LIS, via PathWest data warehouse. 

Oracle General Ledger 17.2 OBM Expenditure 
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Financial Statements
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Audit opinion 

      Auditor General

Page 1 of 6

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth    MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849    TEL: 08 6557 7500   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S OPINION
2021

PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA

To the Parliament of Western Australia

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (PathWest) which comprise: 

 the Statement of Financial Position at 30 June 2021, and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended 

 Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In my opinion, the financial statements are: 

 based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results and cash flows of PathWest 
Laboratory Medicine WA for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position at the end of that period 

 in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my report. 

I am independent of PathWest in accordance with the Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Responsibilities of the Board for the financial statements
The Board is responsible for: 

 keeping proper accounts

 preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions

 such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for: 

 assessing the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern

 disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

 using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has made policy or funding 
decisions affecting the continued existence of PathWest.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements. The 
objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s report and can be found at 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.  
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Report on the audit of controls 
Basis for Qualified Opinion
I identified significant weaknesses in network security and remote access controls at PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA. 
These weaknesses could result in a potential security exposure such as unauthorised access to sensitive information and an 
increased risk of information loss. The weaknesses exposed the network to increased vulnerabilities which could undermine 
the integrity of data across all systems, including the financial system.

Qualified Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls exercised by PathWest 
Laboratory Medicine WA. The controls exercised by PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA are those policies and procedures 
implemented by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
property, and the incurring of liabilities have been made in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control 
objectives).

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report.

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, in all 
material respects the controls exercised by PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable 
assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2021.

The Board’s responsibilities
The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant written law.

Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the 
suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of the controls as 
designed. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance 
Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I 
comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably designed to achieve the overall control objectives and were 
implemented as designed.
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An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of the controls design to 
achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my 
judgement, including an assessment of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My 
procedures included testing the implementation of those controls that I consider necessary to achieve the overall control 
objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Limitations of controls
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed 
and implemented as designed, once in operation, the overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error or 
non-compliance with laws and regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of 
the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may become unsuitable because 
of changes in conditions.

Report on the audit of the key performance indicators

Opinion
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of PathWest Laboratory Medicine 
WA for the year ended 30 June 2021. The key performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness 
indicators and key efficiency indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering 
services.

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess PathWest’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 
30 June 2021.

The Board’s responsibilities for the key performance indicators
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal control as the Board determines 
necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key performance indicators that are 
relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance 
Indicators.
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Auditor General’s responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key 
performance indicators are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the entity’s performance and whether the key 
performance indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 
Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance 
engagements.

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the key 
performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators 
against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and the 
efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of 
internal control relevant to the engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

My independence and quality control relating to the reports on controls and key performance indicators
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements 
relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of 
Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with 
ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Other information
The Board is responsible for the other information. The other information is the information in the entity’s annual report for the 
year ended 30 June 2021, but not the financial statements, key performance indicators and my auditor’s report. 

My opinions do not cover the other information and, accordingly, I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements and key performance 
indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of PathWest Laboratory 
Medicine WA for the year ended 30 June 2021 included on the PathWest website. PathWest’s management is responsible for 
the integrity of the PathWest website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the PathWest website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators described above. 
It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements, 
controls or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the 
information contained in the website version of the financial statements, controls and key performance indicators.

Caroline Spencer 
Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia
21 September 2021
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The accompanying financial statements of PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the reporting period 
ended 30 June 2021 and the financial position as at 30 June 2021. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included within the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Adrian Bautista
Chief Finance Officer
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA
16 September 2021

Prof. Christobel Saunders AO
Chair
PathWest Board
16 September 2021

Ms Michele Dolin
Chair, Finance Committee
PathWest Board
16 September 2021

Certification of financial statements 
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2021
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Financial statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2021

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES      

Expenses      

Employee benefits expense 2.1.1  246,362  227,975 

Domestic contracts 2.2  2,937  1,510 

Depreciation and amortisation expense
4.1, 4.2, 

4.3  13,638  9,364 

Finance costs 6.2  108  122 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment 2.2  9,334  8,518 

Supplies and services 2.2  90,655  74,210 

Other expenses 2.2  15,840  11,369 

Total cost of services    378,874  333,068 

       

Income      

Patient charges 3.1  33,116  33,904 

Other fees for services 3.2  16,082  12,047 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 2.3  1  11 

Other income 3.4  4,019  4,195 

Total income    53,218  50,157 

NET COST OF SERVICES    325,656  282,911 

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

       

Income from State Government      

Department of Health – Service Agreement 3.3  153,303  146,307 

Income from other public sector entities 3.3  164,193  146,834 

Services received free of charge 3.3  11,810  10,548 

Total income from State Government    329,306  303,689 

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD    3,650  20,778 

       

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME      

Total other comprehensive income    –  – 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR  
THE PERIOD    3,650  20,778 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

ASSETS      

Current Assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 6.3  25,270  22,784 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  17,250  7,609 

Receivables 5.1  29,089  25,241 

Inventories 5.4  4,632  4,686 

Other current assets 5.3  2,143  1,214 

Total Current Assets    78,384  61,534 

Non-Current Assets      

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6.3  4,065  3,252 

Amounts receivable for services 5.2  101,637  88,133 

Property, plant and equipment 4.1  87,677  90,606 

Intangible assets 4.2  38,884  37,871 

Right-of-use assets 4.3  4,743  5,012 

Total Non-Current Assets    237,006  224,874 

TOTAL ASSETS    315,390  286,408 

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES      

Current Liabilities      

Payables 5.5  17,446  11,738 

Lease liabilities 6.1  152  88 

Employee related provisions 2.1.2  57,068  52,601 

Other current liabilities 5.6  25  33 

Total Current Liabilities    74,691  64,460 

Non-Current Liabilities      

Lease liabilities 6.1  4,649  4,931 

Employee related provisions 2.1.2  14,388  15,257 

Total Non-Current Liabilities    19,037  20,188 

TOTAL LIABILITIES    93,728  84,648 

       

NET ASSETS    221,662  201,760 

       

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 8.7  191,980  175,728 

Accumulated surplus    29,682  26,032 

TOTAL EQUITY    221,662  201,760 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2021

   
Contributed  

equity
Accumulated  

surplus
Total  

equity

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2020 8.7  175,728  26,032  201,760 

Surplus    –  3,650  3,650 

Total comprehensive income for the period    –  3,650  3,650 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:        

Contribution by owners – Capital appropriation administered by Department of Health    16,252  –  16,252 

Total    16,252  –  16,252 

Balance at 30 June 2021    191,980  29,682  221,662 

   
Contributed  

equity
Accumulated  

surplus
Total  

equity

  Note $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 July 2019 8.7  163 025  5 254  168 279

Surplus    –  20,778  20,778 

Other comprehensive income    –  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the period    –  20,778  20,778 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:        

Contribution by owners – Capital appropriation administered by Department of Health    12,703  –  12,703 

Total    12,703  –  12,703 

Balance at 30 June 2020    175,728  26,032  201,760 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2021

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT      

Department of Health – Service Agreement    139,799  137,536 
Contribution by owners – Capital 
appropriation administered by Department of 
Health    16,252  12,703 

Funds from other public sector entities    164,193  145,678 

Net cash provided by State Government    320,244  295,917 

     

Utilised as follows:      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Employees benefits    (241,750)  (223,407)

Supplies and services    (103,125)  (89,325)

Finance costs    (108)  (122)

Receipts      

Receipts from customers    26,346  33,240 

Other receipts    23,052  17,848 

Net cash used in operating activities    (295,585)  (261,766)

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Purchase of non-current assets    (9,688)  (21,087)

Receipts      

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets    18  11 

Net cash used in investing activities    (9,670)  (21,076)

       

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

Payments      

Principal elements of lease payments    (2,049)  (1,821)

Net cash used in financing activities    (2,049)  (1,821)

       

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents    12,940  11,254 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the period    33,645  22,391 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 6.3  46,585  33,645 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

NOTE 1. Basis of preparation
PathWest Laboratory Medicine WA (PathWest) is a WA Government Health Service 
Provider and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate 
parent. PathWest is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been 
included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable 
Authority of PathWest on 16 September 2021.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 
• Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)

• Treasurer’s Instructions (TIs)

• Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

• Where appropriate, those AASs paragraphs applicable for notforprofit entities 
have been applied.

The FMA and the TIs take precedence over AAS. Several AASs are modified by the 
TIs to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where modification is required 
and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

Basis of preparation

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual 
basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will 
apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the 
case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial 
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the 
preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts 
affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public 
Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the 
Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to, 
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed Equity.

91PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2020/21



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

NOTE 2. Use of our funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

This section provides additional information about how PathWest’s funding is applied 
and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items 
recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by PathWest in 
achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:

  2021 2020

  Notes $’000 $’000

Employee benefits expenses 2.1.1  246,362  227,975 

Employee related provisions 2.1.2  71,456  67,858 

Other expenditure 2.2  118,766  95,607 

2.1.1 Employee benefits expense

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Employee benefits  225,832  208,649 

Superannuation  20,530  19,326 

Total employee benefits expenses  246,362  227,975 

Employee Benefits

Employee benefits include wages, salaries and social contributions, accrued and paid 
leave entitlements and paid sick leave, and non-monetary benefits (such as medical 
care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or services) for employees. 

Termination benefit

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal 
retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for 
the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when PathWest 
is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing 
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to present value.

Superannuation

The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(concurrent contributions), the West State Super, the Government Employees 
Superannuation Board or other superannuation funds. 

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits

Non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee benefits expenses, 
predominantly relate to the provision of vehicle and housing benefits are measured at 
the cost incurred by PathWest.

Employee Contributions 

Contributions made to PathWest by employees towards employee benefits that have 
been provided by PathWest. This includes both AASB16 and non-AASB 16 employee 
contributions.
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2.1.2 Employee related provisions

 
2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current    

Employee benefits provision    

Annual leave (a)  31,942  28,619 

Time off in lieu leave (a)  1,904  1,677 

Long service leave (b)  23,179  22,262 

Deferred salary scheme (c)  43  43 

Total current employee related provisions  57,068  52,601 

Non-current    

Employee benefits provision    

Long service leave (b)  14,429  15,298 

Deferred salary scheme (c)  (41)  (41)

Total non-current employee related provisions  14,388  15,257 

Total employee related provisions  71,456  67,858 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of annual leave and 
long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an 
expense during the period the services are delivered.

a) Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities

Annual leave and time off in lieu leave liabilities are classified as current as there is 
no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected 
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.

b) Long service leave liabilities

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as 
PathWest does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
non-current liabilities because PathWest has an unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of 
service.

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as PathWest does 
not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be 
made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These 
payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities

Deferred salary scheme liabilities classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities 
gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation 
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
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2.2 Other expenditure

  2021 2020
  $’000 $’000

Domestic contracts    
Domestic charges  2,875  1,459 
Food supplies  62  51 
Total domestic contracts expenses  2,937  1,510 

Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment    
Repairs and maintenance  7,432  7,230 
Minor equipment  1,902  1,288 
Total repairs, maintenance, and minor equipment 
expenses  9,334  8,518 

Supplies and services    
Supply costs  78,822  63,587 
Utilities  23  76 
Services provided by Health Support Services (HSS):    
   Information, communication and technology (ICT) services  8,193  6,495 
   Supply chain services  1,293  1,886 
   Financial services  702  107 
   Human resource services  1,622  2,059 
Total supplies and services expenses  90,655  74,210 

  2021 2020
  $’000 $’000

Other expenses    
Communications  632  464 
Document management  199  171 
Information, communication and technology  5,242  2,223 
Research, development and other grants  130  15 
Workers compensation insurance  728  448 
Training  253  323 
Travel and accommodation  1,313  1,370 
Rental expenses  965  457 
Other insurances (8)  185 
Consultancy fees  1,423  644 
Other employee related expenses  338  177 
Printing and stationery  1,256  1,166 
Expected credit losses expense  600  773 
Motor vehicle expenses  299  253 
Bank fees and charges  32  28 
Subscriptions and periodicals  818  1,085 
Licences and fees  845  652 
Legal  2  1 
Advertising  –  8 
Audit fees  225  240 
Other  548  686 
Total other expenses  15,840  11,369 
Total other expenditure  118,766  95,607 
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2.2 Other expenditure (continued)

Supplies and services 

Supplies and services expenses are recognised as an expense in the reporting period 
in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution 
are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Rental expenses include: 

i) Short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less; 

ii) Low-value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less; and 

iii) Variable lease payments, recognised in the period in which the event or condition 
that triggers those payments occur.

Information, communication and technology

Information, communication and technology costs are recognised as expenses as 
incurred.

Consultancy fees

Consultancy costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

Expected credit losses

The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured at the 
lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. PathWest has established a 
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

Employee on-costs 

Employment on-costs includes workers’ compensation insurance and other 
employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the recognition of annual 
and long service leave liabilities is included at Note 2.1.2 Employee related 
provisions. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave 
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in 
normal operations. 

2.3 Net gain on disposal of non-current assets

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets    
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed:    
Property, plant and equipment  (17)  – 
   (17)  – 
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets:    
Property, plant and equipment  18  11 
   18  11 
Net gain  1  11 

Realised and unrealised gains or losses are usually recognised on a net basis. 
These include gains or losses arising on the disposal of non-current assets.

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting 
from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling 
expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (from the proceeds of sale).
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NOTE 3. Our funding sources

How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how PathWest obtains its funding 
and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and 
measurement of this funding. The primary income received by PathWest and the 
relevant notes are:

    2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

Patient charges 3.1  33,116  33,904 
Other fees for services 3.2  16,082  12,047 
Income from State Government 3.3  329,306  303,689 
Other income 3.4  4,019  4,195 

3.1 Patient charges

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Inpatient other charges  8,987  10,410 

Outpatient charges  24,129  23,494 

Total patient charges  33,116  33,904 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for inpatient and outpatient charges. The 
performance obligations for these inpatient and outpatient charges are satisfied 
when services have been provided.

3.2 Other fees for services

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Pathology services to other health organisations  15,927  11,837 

Clinical services to other health organisations  70  139 

Non clinical services to other health organisations  85  71 

Total other fees for services  16,082  12,047 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. Revenue is recognised for the major activities as follows:

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical, non-clinical and pathology 
services to other health organisations. The performance obligations for these services 
are satisfied when services have been provided.

96PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2020/21



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

3.3 Income from State Government

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Grant from other government agencies:    
Department of Health – Service Agreement  140,935  146,307 
Department of Health – Service Agreement 
(Commonwealth)  12,368  – 
Total Department of Health – Service Agreement 
received  153,303  146,307 
     
Income received from other public sector entities during 
the period:    
Department of Health  5,059  4,481 
Pathology services to other Health Services and other 
government agencies (a)  157,397  142,353 
Other grants and contributions  1,737  – 
Total grants and subsidies  164,193  146,834 
     
Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period:    
Department of Health – Assets transferred  –  1 
Services received from Health Support Services (HSS):    
Information, communication and technology (ICT) services  8,193  6,495 
Supply chain services  1,293  1,886 
Financial services  702  107 
Human resource services  1,622  2,059 
Total resources received  11,810  10,548 
Total income from State Government  329,306  303,689 

(a) Represents pathology services billed to other Health Services (CAHS, SMHS, 
EMHS and WACHS) and other government agencies (Department of Justice,  
WA Police and Insurance Commission of Western Australia).

Department of Health – Service Agreement are recognised as income at fair 
value of consideration received in the period in which PathWest gains control of the 
appropriated funds. PathWest gains control of appropriated funds at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for 
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.

Services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that PathWest would 
otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A corresponding expense is 
recognised for services received. 

Following the update in Treasurer’s Instructions 1102, revenue is recognised based on 
the immediate funding source. Hence, Department of Health – service agreement and 
commonwealth grants and contributions that are received via the service agreements 
with Department of Health, other grants and contributions that are received from other 
public sector entities in the prior year have been reclassified accordingly. 

3.4 Other income

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Clinical trials  713  584 

Commercial pathology  2,848  3,259 

Other  458  352 

Total other income  4,019  4,195 

Revenue is recognised at the transaction price when PathWest transfers control of 
the services to customers. 

Revenue is recognised at a point in time for clinical trials, commercial and other 
pathology services. The performance obligations are satisfied when services have 
been provided.
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NOTE 4. Key assets

Assets PathWest utilises for economic benefit or service potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets PathWest utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting 
policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

  2021 2020

  Note $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment 4.1  87,677  90,606 

Intangibles 4.2  38,884  37,871 

Right-of-use assets 4.3  4,743  5,012 

Total key assets    131,304  133,489 

4.1 Property, plant and equipment 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and other leased plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out 
in the tables below.

 

Carrying amount at 
start of the period Additions

Transfers between 
asset classes Disposals Depreciation

Carrying amount at 
the end of the 

period
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

30 June 2021            
Buildings  67,907  –  –  –  (2,516)  65,391 
Leasehold improvements  1,842  –  –  –  (213)  1,629 
Computer equipment  183  47  –  –  (86)  144 
Furniture and fittings  101  –  –  –  (9)  92 
Medical equipment  18,668  4,981  3  (63)  (5,098)  18,491 
Other plant and equipment  635  147    (3)  (116)  663 
Works in progress  1,270  –  (3)  –  –  1,267 
Total  90,606  5,175  –  (66)  (8,038)  87,677 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Initial recognition

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially 
at cost. Where an asset is acquired for no cost or significantly less than fair value, the 
cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 
similar items which are significant in total).

The cost of a leasehold improvement is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter 
of the remaining term of the lease or the estimated useful life of the leasehold 
improvement.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and 
equipment. Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss. All other items of property, plant and equipment are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

Buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Landgate) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 
reporting period.

Buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2020 by Landgate. The revaluation was 
performed during the year ended 30 June 2021. Fair Value of buildings were 

determined based on current replacement cost. The valuation does not differ 
materially from the carrying value assumed by PathWest on that date. The carrying 
values assumed on 1 July 2020 for buildings was $67,672,300. 

Depreciation charge for the period

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Depreciation    

Buildings  2,516  2,512 

Leasehold improvements  213  213 

Computer equipment  86  75 

Furniture and fittings  9  12 

Medical equipment  5,098  4,617 

Other plant and equipment  116  107 

Total depreciation for the period  8,038  7,536 

As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and 
equipment. 

Finite useful lives

All property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the 
consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the 
asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. 
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4.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Asset Useful Life
Buildings 50 years
Leasehold improvements Term of lease
Computer equipment 4 to 10 years
Furniture and fittings 5 to 20 years
Medical equipment 3 to 25 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made where 
appropriate.

Impairment

Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where 
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the 
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to the recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an 
impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. Where a previously revalued 
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement through other comprehensive income. 

As PathWest is a not-for-profit entity, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued 
specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as fair value.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying 
amount shall be increased to its recoverable amount. However, this reversal should 
not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been determined, 
net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in  
 prior years.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling, or 
where there is significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of asset is 
reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic benefits and to 
evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.

4.2 Intangible assets

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Computer software    
At cost  41,997  – 
Accumulated amortisation (3,500)  – 
   38,497  – 
Work in Progress    
Computer software under development (at cost)  387  37,871 
   38,884  37,871 
Reconciliations:  
Computer software    
Additions  41,997  – 
Amortisation (Note 4.2.1) (3,500)  – 
Carrying amount at end of period  38,497  – 
     
Work in progress    
Carrying amount at start of period  37,871  – 
Contributions by owners  –  22,681 
Additions  4,513  15,190 
Transfers between asset classes (41,997)  – 
Carrying amount at end of period  387  37,871 
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4.2 Intangible assets (continued)

Initial recognition

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no 
significantly less than fair value, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the 
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the 
following are demonstrated:
• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale;

• An intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

• The ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

• The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete 
the development and to use or sell the intangible asset;

• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset 
during its development.

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated 
intangible assets costing $5,000 or more that comply with the recognition criteria as 
per AASB 138.57 are capitalised. 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as property, 
plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition.

Costs incurred in the research phase of a project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be 
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses.

4.2.1 Amortisation and impairment

As at 30 June 2021 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.

Amortisation to intangible asset during the 2021 financial year was $3,499,723  
(2020: $0).

PathWest held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during 
the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible 
assets not yet available for use.

Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight-line basis at 
rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible 
assets controlled by PathWest have a finite useful life and zero residual value. 
Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually. 

The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

Software 10 Years

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or when 
an indication of impairment is identified.

The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.
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4.3 Right-of-use assets

2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Buildings  4,372  4,698 

Motor vehicles  371  314 

Net carrying amount  4,743  5,012 

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2021 financial year were $2,101,836  
(2020: $180,347).

Initial recognition

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received; 

• any initial direct costs; and 

• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

PathWest has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with 
an underlying value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases 
are expensed over a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Subsequent Measurement

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease 
liability.

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to PathWest at the end of the lease term or 
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using 
the estimated useful life of the asset.

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is 
identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in note 4.1.

4.3.1 Depreciation charge right-of-use assets

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income:

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Buildings  1,868  1,609 

Motor vehicles  232  219 

Total right-of-use asset depreciation  2,100  1,828 

     
Lease interest expense (included in Finance Cost)  108  122 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2021 was $2,049,000 (2020: $1,943,000).

PathWest has leases for buildings and motor vehicles.

PathWest recognises leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been 
disclosed in note 6.1.
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NOTE 5. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from PathWest’s 
controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and 
liabilities incurred during normal operations: 

  2021 2020

  Notes  $’000 $’000

Receivables 5.1  29,089  25,241 

Amounts receivable for services 5.2  101,637  88,133 

Other current assets 5.3  2,143  1,214 

Inventories 5.4  4,632  4,686 

Payables 5.5  17,446  11,738 

Other current liabilities 5.6  25  33 

5.1 Receivables

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current    

Patient fee debtors  15,156  8,900 

Other receivables  2,510  5,418 

Less: Allowance for impairment of trade receivables  (1,707)  (1,471)

Accrued revenue  12,541  12,394 

GST Receivables  589  – 

Total receivables  29,089  25,241 

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less any 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Non-current  101,637  88,133 

Balance at end of period  101,637  88,133 

Amounts receivable for services represents the non-cash component of service 
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or 
payment of leave liability.

Amounts receivable for services are not considered to be impaired (i.e. there is no 
expected credit loss of the Holding Account).

5.3 Other assets

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Current    

Prepayments  2,143  1,214 

Total current  2,143  1,214 

Balance at end of period  2,143  1,214 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance 
of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting 
period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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5.4 Inventories

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Pharmaceutical stores – at cost  4,338  4,412 

Engineering stores – at cost  294  274 

Balance at end of period  4,632  4,686 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are 
assigned by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory.

All inventories are not held for resale and valued at cost unless they are not required, 
in which case they are valued at net realisable value.

5.5 Payables

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Current    

Trade payables  2,899  4,128 

Other payables  21  25 

Accrued expenses  8,028  2,101 

Accrued salaries  6,498  5,484 

Total current  17,446  11,738 

Balance at end of period  17,446  11,738 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when PathWest becomes obliged 
to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as settlement is generally within 30 days.

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight after the reporting 
period end. PathWest considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be 
equivalent to its fair value.

5.6 Other liabilities

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000

Current    

Paid parental leave scheme  24  33 

Other  1  – 

Total current  25  33 

Balance at end of period  25  33 
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NOTE 6. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the 
financing and cash flows of PathWest.

  Notes
Lease liabilities 6.1
Finance costs 6.2
Cash and cash equivalents 6.3
Capital commitments 6.4

6.1 Lease liabilities

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease 
liabilities:

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Current  152  88 

Non-current  4,649  4,931 

   4,801  5,019 

Initial measurement

PathWest measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value 
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, PathWest uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western 
Australia Treasury Corporation.

Lease payments included by PathWest as part of the present value calculation of 
lease liability include: 
• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives 

receivable; 

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using 
the index or rate as at the commencement date; 

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 

• The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be 
exercised); and

• Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects 
PathWest exercising an option to terminate the lease. 

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable 
lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case 
the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease 
term by PathWest if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not 
terminated). 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are 
dependent on sales are recognised by PathWest in profit or loss in the period in which 
the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

This section should be read in conjunction with Note 4.3 Right-of-use assets.

Subsequent measurement

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; 
and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to 
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.
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6.2 Finance costs

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Lease interest expense  108  122 
   108  122 

Finance costs includes the interest component of lease liability repayments.

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents

 
2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Current    
Cash and cash equivalents  25,270  22,784 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents    
– assets held for other specific purposes (a)  17,250  7,609 
Total current  42,520  30,393 
     
Non-current    
Restricted cash and cash equivalents    
– Accrued salaries suspense account (b)  4,065  3,252 
Total non-current  4,065  3,252 
Balance at end of period  46,585  33,645 

(a) Funds held for specific purposes including capital works.

(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a 
reporting period that occurs every 11th year.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and 
restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term 
deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible 
to a known amount of cash, and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

The accrued salaries suspense account consists of amounts paid annually, from 
PathWest appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to 
meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods 
with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.

6.4 Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to 
the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Within 1 year  4,236  6,575 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  1  – 

Later than 5 years  19  – 

Total capital expenditure commitments  4,256  6,575 

The total value or quantum presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive.
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NOTE 7. Financial instruments and contingencies
This section sets out the key risk management policies and measurements techniques 
of PathWest.

  Notes
Financial instruments 7.1
Contingent liabilities 7.2.1
Contingent assets 7.2.2

7.1 Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

 
2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Financial Assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  25,270  22,784 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  21,315  10,861 
Financial assets at amortised cost  130,726  113,374 
Total financial assets  177,311  147,019 
     
Financial Liabilities    
Financial liabilities at amortised cost  17,446  11,738 
Total financial liabilities  17,446  11,738 

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of 
financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best 
estimate.

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable 
respectively.

7.2.1 Contingent liabilities

The following contingent liabilities are additional to the liabilities included in the 
financial statements:

Litigation in progress

A claim has been filed against PathWest as a co-defendant in a case. The potential 
financial effect of the success of the claim cannot be reliably measured at this time.

Contaminated sites

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, PathWest is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Water and Environmental 
Regulation (DWER). In accordance with the Act, DWER classifies these sites on the 
basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where 
sites are classified as contaminated – remediation required or possibly contaminated 
– investigation required, PathWest may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any suspected contaminated sites 
reported under the Act.

Long service leave for casual employees

Under the Long Service Leave Act 1958 (LSL Act) casual employees who have been 
employed for more than 10 years and meet continuous service requirements may be 
entitled to long service leave. Whilst a provision for casual employees who are 
currently still employed by WA Health and who meet the criteria has been recognised 
in the financial statements, the amount of the obligation for those casual employees 
who are no longer employed by WA Health cannot be measured with sufficient 
reliability at reporting date. We are currently assessing the impact of the LSL Act for 
those casual employees.

7.2.2 Contingent assets

At the reporting date, PathWest does not have any contingent assets.
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NOTE 8. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting 
standards or other pronouncements for the understanding of this financial report.

Notes

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 8.1
Key management personnel 8.2
Related party transactions 8.3
Related bodies 8.4
Affiliated bodies 8.5
Remuneration of auditors 8.6
Equity 8.7
Supplementary Financial Information 8.8
Explanatory statement 8.9

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

To the best of its knowledge, PathWest is not aware of any material events relating 
to the reporting period.

8.2 Key management personnel

PathWest has determined that key management personnel include cabinet ministers, 
members and senior officers of PathWest. However, PathWest is not obligated to 
compensate Ministers and therefore disclosures in relation to Ministers’ 
compensation may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation (total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other 
benefits) for members of the accountable authority of PathWest for the reporting 
period are presented within the following bands:

  2021 2020
Compensation band ($)    
$20,001 – $30,000  1  – 
$30,001 – $40,000  1  – 
$40,001 – $50,000  7  – 
$100,001 – $110,000  1  – 

 10  – 

Total compensation (total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and other 
benefits) for senior officers of PathWest for the reporting period are presented within 
the following bands:
  2021 2020
Compensation band ($)    
$1 – $10,000  –  1 
$20,001 – $30,000  –  1 
$40,001 – $50,000  1  – 
$200,001 – $210,000  1  – 
$210,001 – $220,000  –  1 
$220,001 – $230,000  –  1 
$230,001 – $240,000  1  2 
$260,001 – $270,000  1  – 
$320,001 – $330,000  1  – 
$400,001 – $410,000  1  – 
$430,001 – $440,000  1  – 
$440,001 – $450,000  –  1 
$640,001 – $650,000  –  1 

 7  8 
   

  $’000 $’000

Total compensation of key management personnel  2,385  2,030 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by PathWest in 
respect of senior officers.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.3 Related party transactions

PathWest is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of 
Western Australia. 

Related parties of PathWest include:
• all Cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 

controlled entities; 

• senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 
controlled entities;

• other agencies and statutory authorities, including related bodies, that are 
included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-
owned public sector entities);

• associates and joint ventures of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Material transactions with related parties

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with PathWest, there were no other 
related party transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close 
family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities. 

8.4 Related Bodies

PathWest had no related bodies during the financial year.

8.5 Affiliated Bodies

PathWest has no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

8.6 Remuneration of auditors

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:

  2021 2020

  $’000 $’000
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and controls  
and key performance indicators  131  110 

8.7 Equity

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

Contributed equity    

Balance at start of period  175,728  163,025 

     

Contributions by owners    
Contribution by owners – Capital appropriation 
administered by Department of Health  16,252  12,703 

     

Balance at end of period  191,980  175,728 

8.8 Supplementary financial information

 

2021 2020
$’000 $’000

(a) Revenue and debts written off under the authority of 
the Accountable Authority  364  599 

   364  599
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement

All variances between annual estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2021, and between the actual results for 2021 and 2020 are shown below. Narratives are provided 
for key major variances, which are generally greater than 10% and 1% of Total Cost of Services for the previous year for the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows, 
and are greater than 10% and 1% of Total Assets for the previous year for the Statement of Financial Position.

Statement of Comprehensive Income Variances

 

Estimate 
2021

Actual 
2021

Actual 
2020

Variance  
between actual 

and estimate 

Variance between 
actual results for 

2021 and 2020
 Variance 

Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

COST OF SERVICES            
Expenses            
Employee benefits expense    230,887  246,362  227,975  15,475  18,387 
Domestic contracts    1,555  2,937  1,510  1,382  1,427 
Depreciation and amortisation expense a  14,037  13,638  9,364  (399)  4,274 
Finance costs    201  108  122  (93)  (14)
Repairs, maintenance and minor equipment    9,110  9,334  8,518  224  816 
Supplies and services 1, b  69,711  90,655  74,210  20,944  16,445 
Other expenses c  13,525  15,840  11,369  2,315  4,471 
Total cost of services    339,025  378,874  333,068  39,849  45,806 
Income            
Patient charges    34,642  33,116  33,904  (1,526)  (788)
Other fees for services d  14,600  16,082  12,047  1,482  4,035 
Gain on disposal of non-current assets    –  1  11  1  (10)
Other income    4,865  4,019  4,195  (846)  (176)
Total revenue    54,107  53,218  50,157  (889)  3,061 
Total income other than income from State Government  54,107  53,218  50,157  (889)  3,061 
NET COST OF SERVICES    284,918  325,656  282,911  40,738  42,745 
Income from State Government            
Department of Health – Service Agreement  2  126,688  153,303  146,307  26,615  6,996 
Income from other public sector entities 3, e  145,395  164,193  146,834  18,798  17,359 
Services received free of charge    10,135  11,810  10,548  1,675  1,262 
Total income from State Government    282,218  329,306  303,689  47,088  25,617 
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD    (2,700)  3,650  20,778  6,350  (17,128)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD  (2,700)  3,650  20,778  6,350  (17,128)
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual
Statement of Comprehensive Income

1 The increase in Supplies and Services was mainly driven by the activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, activity driven reagent spend and LIS operating expense.

2 The increase in Service Appropriation Revenue compared to the Annual Estimates were additional funding for COVID-19 related activities and appropriation relating to the 
LIS implementation project.

3 Income from Other Public Sector Entities were COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 driven activity growth. 

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Comprehensive Income

a The increase in Depreciation and Amortisation Expense for the year relates to the LIS implementation project capitalisation and depreciation.

b The increase in spend in Supplies and Services was due to activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and LIS operating expense.

c The increase in spend of Other Expenses driven by COVID-19 pandemic activities and the LIS project.

d The increase in Other Fees for Service was COVID-19 pandemic related.

e The Income from Other Public Sector Entities was activity driven growth from COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related testing.

111PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2020/21



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Financial Position Variances

 

Estimate 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2020

Variance  
between actual  

and estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2021 and 2020

 Variance 
Note

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS            

Current Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents  4  10,266  25,270  22,784  15,004  2,486 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5, f  5,609  17,250  7,609  11,641  9,641 

Receivables g  26,240  29,089  25,241  2,849  3,848 

Inventories    4,686  4,632  4,686  (54)  (54)

Other current assets    1,214  2,143  1,214  929  929 

Total Current Assets    48,015  78,384  61,534  30,369  16,850 

Non-Current Assets            

Restricted cash and cash equivalents    4,069  4,065  3,252  (4)  813 

Amounts receivable for services h  100,307  101,637  88,133  1,330  13,504 

Property, plant and equipment    88,856  87,677  90,606  (1,179)  (2,929)

Intangible assets  6  52,751  38,884  37,871  (13,867)  1,013 

Right-of-use assets    3,149  4,743  5,012  1,594  (269)

Total Non-Current Assets    249,133  237,006  224,874  (12,127)  12,132 

TOTAL ASSETS    297 148  315,390  286,408  18,242  28,982 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

 

Estimate 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2020

Variance  
between actual  

and estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2021 and 2020

 Variance 
Note

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES            

Current Liabilities            

Payables 7, i  11,738  17,446  11,738  5,708  5,708 

Lease liabilities    88  152  88  64  64 

Employee related provisions    52,602  57,068  52,601  4,466  4,467 

Other current liabilities    33  25  33  (8)  (8)

Total Current Liabilities    64,461  74,691  64,460  10,230  10,231 

Non-Current Liabilities            

Lease liabilities    3,067  4,649  4,931  1,582  (282)

Employee related provisions    15,257  14,388  15,257  (869)  (869)

Total Non-Current Liabilities    18,324  19,037  20,188  713  (1,151)

TOTAL LIABILITIES    82 785  93,728  84,648  10,943  9,080 

             

NET ASSETS    214 363  221,662  201,760  7,299  19,902 

             

EQUITY            

Contributed equity    191,033  191,980  175,728  947  16,252 

Accumulated surplus 8, j  23,330  29,682  26,032  6,352  3,650 

TOTAL EQUITY    214 363  221,662  201,760  7,299  19,902 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Financial Position

4 The increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents were COVID-19 funding, additional appropriation following Annual Estimates submission and timing in accounts payable.

5 The increase in Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents was driven by LIS related contractual payments and receipt of COVID-19 capital funding. 

6 Intangible Assets were lower than Annual Estimates driven by the timing of LIS related contractual payments and receipt of COVID-19 capital funding.

7 The increase in Payables relates to LIS operating expense.

8 The increase in Accumulated Surplus was attributable to COVID-19 related activities.

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Financial Position

f The increase in Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents was due to timing of LIS project contracted milestone payments and receipts of additional COVID-19 capital 
funding.

g The increase in Receivables were activity driven year-on-year growth in COVID-19 and non – COVID-19 testing volumes.

h The increase in Amount Receivable for Services is due to the increase in Non-Cash Accrual Appropriation in relation to the reclassification of leasing costs in compliance 
to the requirements of Accounting Standard AASB16 (Leases).

i The increase in Payables relates to LIS operating expense.

j The increase in Accumulated Surplus was due to activity growth.

114PATHWEST ANNUAL REPORT | 2020/21



Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Statement of Cash Flows Variances

 

Estimate 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2020

Variance  
between actual  

and estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2021 and 2020

 Variance 
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT            
Department of Health – Service Agreement  9  112,651  139,799  137,536  27,148  2,263 
Contribution by owners – Capital appropriation 
administered by Department of Health k  15,304  16,252  12,703  948  3,549 
Funds from other public sector entities 10, l  145,395  164,193  145,678  18,798  18,515 
Net cash provided by State Government    273,350  320,244  295,917  46,894  24,327 
             
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES            
Payments            
Employees benefits    (230,887)  (241,750)  (223,407)  (10,863)  (18,343)
Supplies and services  11, m  (87,444)  (103,125)  (89,325)  (15,681)  (13,800)
Finance costs    (201)  (108)  (122)  93  14 
Receipts            
Receipts from customers  12, n  34,642  26,346  33,240  (8,296)  (6,894)
Other receipts 13, o  19,465  23,052  17,848  3,587  5,204 
Net cash used in operating activities    (264,425)  (295,585)  (261,766)  (31,160)  (33,819)
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES            
Payments            
Purchase of non-current assets    (25,304)  (9,688)  (21,087)  15,616  11,399 
Receipts            
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets      18  11  18  7 
Net cash used in investing activities    (25,304)  (9,670)  (21,076)  15,634  11,406 
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8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

 

Estimate 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2021

Actual 
30 June 

2020

Variance  
between actual  

and estimate

Variance between 
actual results for 

2021 and 2020

 Variance 
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES            
Payments            
Principal elements of lease payments 14   1,861  (2,049)  (1,821)  (3,910)  (228)
Net cash used in financing activities    1,861  (2,049)  (1,821)  (3,910)  (228)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  15  (14,518)  12,940  11,254  27,458  1,686 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period p  34,462  33,645  22,391  (817)  11,254 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF 
THE PERIOD    19 944  46,585  33,645  26,641  12,940 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021

8.9 Explanatory statement (continued)

Major Variance Narratives

Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Cash Flows

9 The increase on Service Appropriation cashflows relates to additional funding relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, LIS operations. 

10 Fund from Other Public Sector Entities was from the increase in test activity, including COVID-19 PCR (Polymerase Chain Reaction) testing.

11 The increase in Supplies and Services was mainly driven by the activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, activity driven consumables spend, and LIS operating expense.

12 The reduction in Receipts from Customers were largely driven by lower Medicare and Private Patient Revenue and activity driven increase in Receivables. 

13 Fund from Other Receipts was driven by the activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, an increase in test activity and grants receipts. 

14 The year-on-year movement in “Principal Elements of Lease Payments” was due to an update of its classification which was previously recognised as “Lease Received” in the 
Annual Estimates.

15 The increase in net cash for the year were additional appropriation for COVID-19 related spend and timing of capital projects. 

Variances between actual and actual

Statement of Cash Flows

k The increase on Capital Appropriation relates to the COVID-19 pandemic and LIS.

l Fund from Other Public Sector Entities was driven by the activities relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, and an increase in test activity.

m The increase in Supplies and Services was activity driven spend largely relating to Non-COVID and COVID-19 related testing, and LIS operating expense.

n The reduction in Receipts from Customers were due to lower Medicare and Private Patient Revenue and activity driven increase in Receivables.

o The increase in Other Receipts relates to increase in Commercial activities and Grants revenue.

p The variance in net cash for the year is due to the additional service appropriation received for COVID-19 pandemic activities and timing in LIS actual contracted payments.
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Disclosures and Compliance
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Ministerial directives
Treasurer’s Instruction 903(12) requires HSPs to disclose any ministerial directives 
relevant to the setting or achievement of desired outcomes or operational objectives, 
investment activities, and financial activities. 

PathWest did not receive any ministerial directives in 2020/21.

Pricing policy 
Pathology fees and charges are set under Schedule 1 Division 4 of the Health 
Services (Fees and Charges) Order 2016 and are reviewed annually. 

PathWest charges patients for pathology services in accordance with Section 7.5 of 
the WA Health - Patient Fees and Charges Manual 2020/21 issued by the 
Department of Health dated March 2021. 

Capital works 
PathWest had a substantial Asset Investment Program in the improvement of key 
operational assets and systems during the 2020/21 financial year.

Major capital works in 
progress

Estimated 
total cost 

2019/20
$’000

Estimated 
total cost 

2020/21
$’000

Estimated 
completion 

date

Replacement of Laboratory 
Information System (LIS)

48,718 52,524 June 2022

State Mortuary 0 7,500 New

Employment profile  
Government agencies are required to report a summary of the number of employees 
on an FTE basis, compared with the preceding financial year.

By department 2019/20 2020/21

Administration 204.6 220.9

Anthropologist 1 1.0

Consultant Pathologist 94.5 96.6

Information Technology 34 33.5

Nursing 0.3 0.2

Odontologist 0.2 0.2

Phlebotomy 100.3 129.3

Registrar 41.5 44.8

Scientist 719.7 741.4

Technical 553.7 602.8

Total 1749.8 FTE 1870.7 FTE
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Industrial relations 
The focus of industrial relations matters is on promoting and fostering productive 
relationships with employees, unions and key stakeholders.  

Major industrial relations activities undertaken in the 2020/21 period includes:

• Representation and advocacy in matters before the WA Industrial Relations 
Commission, Public Sector Arbitrator and Public Sector Appeal Board.

• Advice and interpretation of industrial agreements and their application.

• Advice and case management of claims and disputes related to investigations, 
disciplinary matters and contractual claims, such as conditions and entitlements.

• Working with the WA health system industrial relations team and other HSPs 
industrial relations representatives to implement a new conversion reporting 
document and process, in accordance with the Industrial Agreement provisions 
under with United Workers Union and Health Services Union.

• Ongoing advice and support for the implementation of workforce changes, 
including implementation of new shifts and increased hours/days of operation.

• Development, review and implementation of workforce policies, systems and 
processes relating to industrial relations.

• Participation in forums and working groups where required.

• Management of industrial related COVID-19 enquiries and log.

• Advice and management of industrial elements of fitness for work matters.

• Advice on matters relating to strategic planning where required. 

Workers compensation
In 2020/21, there were 29 workplace injury claims accepted by the Government 
Insurance Division with one notifiable injury to WorkSafe WA. PathWest worked 
closely with employees, their treating medical practitioners and RiskCover to achieve 
defined Return to Work objectives.

Nature of Injury 2019/20 2020/21

Burns 0 0

Contusion and Crushing 0 0

Foreign body, ear, eye, nose, respiratory 0 0

Fractures 1 0

Mental disorders 0 1

Musculoskeletal system - disorders muscles and  
other soft tissue

4 1

Open wound 7 2

Sprains, strains and dislocations 6 18

Superficial injury 0 5

All other diseases 0 2

Total number of workplace injuries claimed 18 29
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Pecuniary interests 
Senior officers are required to declare any pecuniary interests in which an interest in 
an existing or proposed contract has, or could result in, the member receiving 
financial or other benefits. In addition, key management personnel are required to 
make any related party disclosures in which compensation is received or where 
transactions with related parties are made. 

In 2020/21 no senior officers, or firms of which senior officers are members, or 
entities in which senior officers have substantial interests, had any interests in 
existing or proposed contracts with PathWest other than normal contracts of 
employment of service.

Unauthorised use of credit cards
PathWest uses purchasing cards for purchasing goods and services to achieve 
savings through improved administrative efficiency and more effective cash 
management. A purchasing card is a credit card that provides a clear audit trail for 
management.

PathWest credit cards are only provided to employees who are required to make 
purchases on behalf of PathWest. Credit cards are strictly not for personal use.  
Should a card holder use a credit card for personal use, they are required to submit 
a Notice of Non-Compliance and refund the total amount spent within five working 
days.

During 2020/21, there was a total of nine such instances of personal use  
pertaining to PathWest credit cards totalling $1,353.92 with $232.60 outstanding as 
at 30 June 2021. No referrals for disciplinary action were instigated during the 
reporting period.

Expenditure on advertising 
In accordance with Section175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907 PathWest is  
required to report its total advertising expenditure. In 2020/21 the total 
expenditure incurred was $5,756. The organisations from which advertising  
services were procured and the amount paid to each organisation are detailed  
in the table below:

 Category Provider $

Media advertising 
organisations

Australian Institute of Medical Scientists $150

Loaded Communications $5,506

The Human Genetics Society of Australia $100

Total advertising expenditure $5,756

Indemnity Insurance
In 2020/21, the insurance premium paid to indemnify any ‘director’ (defined in Part 3 
of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996) against liability 
incurred under sections 13 or 14 of that Act was $20,909.02 (including GST).
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Board remuneration 

Position title Member name
Type of  
remuneration

2020-21 period  
of membership

Term of appointment
2020/21 gross 
remuneration

Chair Prof. Christobel Saunders Annual 12 months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 $100,9021

Deputy Chair Prof. Tarun Weeramanthri Annual 9 months 16 August 2020 to 30 June 20232 $35,026

Member Dr Gelareh Farshid Annual 12 months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 $29,0413

Member Dr Kim Hames Annual 12 months
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022
(Reappointed for a further 1 year on 1 July 2021)

$44,530

Member Dr Sue van Leeuwen Annual 12 months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023 $44,530

Member Mr Rob McPhee Annual 12 months
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022  
(Reappointed for a further 1 year on 1 July 2021)

$44,530

Member Ms Angie Paskevicius Annual 12 months
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2024  
(Reappointed for a further 3 years on 1 July 2021)

$44,530

Member Mr Kevin Taylor Annual 12 months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022 $44,530

Member Ms Samantha Elder Annual 12 months
1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023  
(Reappointed for a further 2 years on 1 July 2021)

$44,530

Member Ms Michele Dolin Annual 12 months 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022 $44,530

Total $476,679

Notes:
1. The 2020/21 gross remuneration for Professor Saunders includes back payment during her advisory role for the 2019/20 period. 

2. Professor Weeramanthri became an active member of the PathWest Board on 16 August 2020. A leave of absence from Board activities was approved for the period  
21 May 2021 – 28 June 2021. Following this leave, Professor Weeramanthri returned as an active member of the PathWest Board. 

3. The payroll figure for Dr Farshid is lower than other Board members serving 12 months due to leave without pay between 1 July 2020 to 30 October 2020. 
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Substantive equality
PathWest is committed to improving health outcomes and increasing opportunities 
for Aboriginal people through various recruitment and training initiatives. In 
addition, PathWest is also stepping up Aboriginal cultural awareness throughout 
the organisation, with a focus on integrating cultural identity and enrichment.

As part of this, PathWest employs the WA Health Substantive Equality Policy and 
addresses all forms of systemic discrimination in service delivery. PathWest 
recognises the importance of a diverse workforce and upholds the principles of 
substantive equality.

Aboriginal workforce
As part of the Aboriginal Workforce Policy (Employment Policy Framework) and in 
alignment with the PSC’s Aboriginal employment target of 3.2 per cent, PathWest 
continued work to increase Aboriginal employment within its workforce.

Initiatives include:

• The application of section 51 of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 to recruitment 
processes.

• Identifying employment pathways for Aboriginal people.

• Offering employment opportunities for Aboriginal cadets, interns, graduates and/
or trainees.

• Offering employment opportunities to Aboriginal Allied Health and Health Science 
graduates.

PathWest offers an Aboriginal scholarship program allowing successful applicants 
to complete PathWest’s six-week Certificate III in Pathology Collection course. The 
scholarship covers all course costs including vaccinations, course materials and 
textbooks. The program specifically targets those seeking a career in phlebotomy 
and specimen collection and provides graduates with a three-month fixed term 
contract with PathWest.

In 2020/21 PathWest participated in the WA Health Aboriginal Cadetship Program, 
offering placements to Aboriginal students who are enrolled in full-time university 
studies across various areas of study. The program aims to provide Aboriginal 
students with paid work experience and further employment opportunities. 

Cultural awareness training

All staff are required to complete the mandatory Aboriginal Cultural eLearning 
course, which was released to all WA health system employees during 2021. This 
new module was developed to continue to promote a culturally competent and 
responsive workforce and builds on the success of the previous learning package 
from 2015.

Equal employment opportunities
The new PathWest Equal Employment Opportunity Management Plan has been 
finalised and is expected to be implemented in 2021/22. The plan will address 
outcomes in accordance with the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.

Language services
Consistent with the WA Health System Language Services Policy, PathWest staff 
have access to language assistance services to ensure all customers or clients who 
require assistance with the English language or who are deaf or hard of hearing 
are provided with access to appropriate interpreting and translation assistance.
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WA Multicultural Policy Framework
PathWest is committed to fostering an inclusive and harmonious workplace 
ensuring everyone, regardless of their sex, ethnicity, physical ability, marital status, 
religion, political conviction, age or gender identification, has a strong sense of 
belonging within the organisation.  

During 2020/21, PathWest developed an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan which 
aims to create an environment free from discrimination, that also promotes and 
celebrates the diversity of the PathWest and greater Western Australian 
community.

This plan will be implemented during 2021/22.

Occupational health, safety and injury 
management
PathWest is committed to ensuring the health, safety and wellbeing of employees, 
visitors, students and contractors at all times. 

Throughout the year, the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) team provided key 
advice to the organisation regarding matters of infection prevention and 
management, and health and safety risk management. They also provided 
consultation on major and minor works projects including the State Mortuary 
upgrade.

OSH issues and compliance was monitored monthly and reported on a quarterly 
basis to the PathWest Executive Committee and the PathWest Board Safety and 
Quality Committee. 

Executive commitment was demonstrated through the annual endorsement of the 
PathWest Safety Health and Wellbeing Policy and through a review of the 
governance structure underpinning OSH at PathWest. This resulted in revised 
organisation-wide mechanisms for employee consultation on workplace health and 
safety matters, as well as better enabling escalation of OSH matters. 

Network Safety Committee meetings commenced in 2020/21. Agenda matters 
include issue resolution, development and review of policies and processes, and 
endorsement of organisation-wide OSH strategies. Where required matters 
addressed at these meetings were subsequently presented to the Work Health and 
Safety Committee for further discussion, before being tabled at the Finance and 
Performance Committee.  

Operational departmental OSH audits were completed throughout the year, 
including:

• first aid kits

• incident and hazard management

• workplace aggression and violence

• manual tasks 

• slip, trips and falls. 

Chemical audits were also completed in collaboration with site HSP 
representatives, to ensure the currency of the ChemAlert database and chemical 
holdings across laboratory sites.

No Provisional Improvement Notices were issued by PathWest Health and Safety 
Representatives in 2020/21.

No Improvement or Prohibition Notices were issued by WorkSafe to PathWest in 
2020/21. 
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Injury management performance
The PathWest OSH team provided support to managers through the application of 
the Injury Management system to ensure active engagement of staff in relation to 
injury prevention and management matters.

Managers were educated through the PathWest e-Learning system to ensure 
understanding of and compliance with injury management obligations. 

Injured and ill workers were supported to return to work through both PathWest 
injury management and return to work programs, as well as through the 
engagement of external WorkCover WA approved Workplace Rehabilitation 
Providers. 

A review of PathWest’s Injury Management system to ensure compliance with the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA) commenced in 
June 2021 and is scheduled for completion by December 2021.

Injury Management Performance 

Measures (%)
Results
2019/20

Results
2020/2021

Target Achievement

Number of fatalities 0 0 0
Target

achieved

Lost time injury and disease incidence rate 0.4 0.51 0 or 10% improvement on the  
previous 3 years

Target not Achieved

Lost time injury and severity rate 0 0
0 or 10% improvement on the  

previous 3 years
Target Achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work  
(i) within 13 weeks

100% N/A
100% or 10% improvement on  

previous 3 years
Target

achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work  
(ii) within 26 weeks

100% N/A
>80% returned to work  

within 26 weeks
Target

Achieved

Percentage of managers trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management responsibilities, including 
refresher training within 3 years

41% 75%2 Greater than or equal to  
80%

Target not achieved

Notes:
1 Several causes contribute to this increased rate, with an increase in claims with lost time over the year. Improvement strategies have focused on early intervention,  

risk controls and injury prevention.

2 Based upon available records from PathWest Workforce and Learning Management System.
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
PathWest developed a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) in 2016 covering 
the period 2016 to 2021. The aims of the DAIP are to ensure people with disability:

• have the same opportunities as other people to access PathWest services.

• receive information from PathWest in an appropriate format that allows them 
access to the information.

• receive the same level and quality of service from PathWest staff as other people 
receive.

• have the same opportunities as other people to provide feedback and make 
complaints to PathWest.

• have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 
consultation by PathWest.

• have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain employment 
with PathWest.

PathWest recognises that many of its facilities are managed and maintained by 
other HSPs and therefore has limited capacity to influence facility changes to 
improve the patient experience. However, PathWest works constructively with other 
HSPs to identify opportunities to improve access and inclusion of people with 
disabilities to services and employment.

PathWest is committed to ensuring newly leased collection centre facilities meet 
DAIP requirements, and continues to work closely with lessors and facilities 
management teams to improve existing facilities to provide adequate access to 
clients. 

An updated PathWest DAIP will be developed in 2021/22.
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Compliance with public sector standards and 
ethical codes
The WA health system Code of Conduct (Integrity Policy Framework) has been 
developed to comply with the principles of appropriate behaviour outlined in the  
WA Public Sector Commission’s (PSC) Code of Ethics. All PathWest employees are 
responsible for ensuring their behaviour reflects the standards of conduct embodied 
in this Code.

PathWest has several systems and processes in place to ensure all employees 
comply with policies and standards. All policies are available for staff to access on 
the PathWest intranet, the Department of Health Policy Frameworks site, the PSC 
website or via the Workforce team.

To ensure all staff are aware of and educated about the policies with which they 
must comply, a calendar of training activities throughout the year is available, which 
includes PathWest’s online induction program, core performance management 
training, ethical decision-making training, and recruitment and selection training. 

The Workforce and Integrity and Ethics teams are also available to provide ongoing 
advice and support to employees.

In 2020/21, PathWest received three breaches of standard claims relating to breaches 
of the Employment Standard in relation to recruitment. These were withdrawn by the 
claimants prior to the matters being referred to the PSC for review. 

In 2020/21, PathWest received two breaches of standard claims relating to breaches 
of the PSC Grievance Resolution Standard; both claims were referred to the PSC for 
review. One of the claims was subsequently dismissed by the PSC, and the other 
upheld, with corrective action required of PathWest. 

Under the WA health system Discipline Policy (Integrity Policy Framework), PathWest 
is required to review, assess and investigate all complaints alleging a breach of 
discipline. All breaches of the Code of Conduct are considered breaches of discipline 
under the Health Services Act 2016. 

In 2020/21, PathWest received 48 complaints of a potential breach of discipline, and 
finalised 39 disciplinary processes. As at 30 June 2021, PathWest was managing  
23 active complaints of a potential breach of discipline. 

Speak Up Culture 
A key priority for PathWest is 
to foster a positive, inclusive 
and constructive culture. 

In 2020/21 PathWest 
commenced an awareness 
campaign to embed a 
“speak-up culture” within the 
organisation to ensure staff 
feel empowered to raise 
concerns in relation to 
potential misconduct. 

PathWest has a range of 
options available to staff to 
make such reports, which 
include:

• Line managers, Supervisors or Heads of Department who will take the 
appropriate action which likely include reporting the matter to or 
seeking advice from Workforce 

• Direct to Workforce  

• Manager Integrity and Ethics

• WA health system Integrity Advisory line 

• Public Interest Disclosure 

• Corruption and Crime Commission or the PSC.

PathWest is committed to providing and maintaining a safe work 
environment where everyone is treated with fairness, respect, equality, 
and dignity. 

if you see or hear something, say something.

What kind of behaviour should you speak up about?

What actions can you take when you see or hear this behaviour?

Dishonesty,  
theft or fraud

Drug or alcohol 
impairment

Bullying,  
discrimination  
or harrassment

! !@#*!

Scan this QR Code to view a video about the importance  
of acting with integrity as a public officer

Tell your line manager, supervisor or Head of Department 
Contact Workforce 
Contact Matthew Daulby, Manager Integrity and Ethics
Call the WA Health Integrity Advisory line on 1800 000 224
Consider lodging a Public Interest Disclosure which is an option under certain circumstances
Contact the Corruption and Crime Commission or the Public Sector Commission.

Unlawful access  
to or disclosure of  

confidential information

Unexplained  
absences

? ?
?

?? ?
Failure to declare a 
gift, hospitality or a 
conflict of interest

SPEAK UP
culture

Physical violence,  
unwanted or inappropriate 

physical contact 

Sexual misconduct
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Commissioner’s Instruction 23
Following issue of Commissioner’s Instruction No. 23 in August 2018, PathWest has 
successfully progressed its implementation to convert eligible fixed term and casual 
employees to permanent roles.

In 2020/21, PathWest completed all reviews of eligible employees, with 271 fixed 
term contract and casual employees converted to permanency – a 56 per cent 
conversion rate. 

Areas with the highest number of conversions were Regional Support Services and 
Pre-Analytical Services, with 81 and 79 conversions, respectively. 

Recordkeeping plans
In accordance with Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000, PathWest has an 
approved recordkeeping plan with the State Records Office.

All staff are required to complete a mandatory online training module about 
recordkeeping on commencement of employment.

PathWest continues to use its in-house document management application for the 
management of some records and participate in working groups to review the 
Retention and Disposal Schedules for administrative and patient records.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA) gives all Western Australians a right to 
access information held by PathWest.

Access to information can be made through a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
application that involves the lodgement of a written request, which must provide 
enough detail to enable the application to be processed, including contact details 
and an Australian address for correspondence.

In 2020/21, 16 FOI applications were made of which 15 were given full access and 
one was transferred to the Coroner’s Court for consideration.
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Risk and audit management
PathWest continues to apply the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) three lines of 
defence model as its mechanism for defining and controlling risk management 
activities and providing assurance to the Board, executive and management that 
effective governance processes are in place. 

In response to the IIAs 2019 review of the three lines of defence model, PathWest 
realigned its risk management and internal audit activities during 2020/21 with the 
aim of improving the level of integration between its assurance functions. 

The risk management function, which was previously overseen by the PathWest 
Governance, Performance and Quality team was transferred to PathWest’s Audit 
and Risk Manager. Alignment of the risk management and internal audit functions 
will help remove duplication and break down silos between PathWest’s assurance 
functions, improving its ability to oversee risk management activities and providing 
greater insight into the effectiveness of PathWest’s control framework. 

PathWest’s audit and risk activities are overseen by the PathWest Board Risk and 
Audit Committee (RAC). The committee sets the tone for PathWest’s assurance 
function and ensures that systems are in place to identify, assess, manage and 
monitor risks relating to PathWest’s strategic and operational objectives. Quarterly 
RAC meetings allow members to monitor key risks, ensuring these are managed 
and monitored effectively as well as allowing them to oversee progress against the 
PathWest Strategic Internal Audit Plan, endorse internal audit reports and monitor 
outstanding audit recommendations. . 

Risk Management
During 2020/21 PathWest implemented the Department of Health Enterprise Risk 
Management System (ERMS), used to capture, monitor and report on strategic, 
operational and project risks. The ERMS has allowed PathWest to update risk 
information in real time, greatly improving the currency of risk data and ensuring a 
better understanding of PathWest’s organisational risk profile. The ERMS has also 
improved PathWest’s ability to report on its risk management activities, providing a 
much richer pool of data to support decision making across the organisation. 

Internal Audit
PathWest continues to operate a risk-based internal audit function to meet the 
requirements of the Financial Management Act 2006 and Treasurers Instructions 
1201: Internal Audit. 

During 2020/21, PathWest completed a quality assessment of its audit function 
against the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing 
identifying compliance in all areas and demonstrating that PathWest’s internal 
audit function was operating in line with best practice. 

PathWest continues to operate a co-sourced model, having appointed consulting 
firm PriceWaterhouseCoopers to support the delivery of the Annual Internal Audit 
Plan for 2020/21 through the State Government’s Common Use Arrangement. 

During 2020/21 PathWest completed eight internal audits including reviews of key 
processes such as:

• the delivery of high-risk test results

• revenue and billing following the transition to the new Soft-LIS 

• contract management relating to a major supplier of pathology analysers and 
reagents. 

Outstanding audit recommendations are managed and monitored through the  
audit log module of the ERMS and progress is reported at quarterly RAC  
meetings. As at 30 June 2021 PathWest had no overdue recommendations in its 
audit log.   
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Patient and customer feedback
PathWest encourages feedback from patients, clients and customers through a 
variety of mechanisms to continuously improve its service. Feedback channels 
include:

• in person at collection centres, which is referred to supervisors and managers for 
resolution

• anonymous website feedback via the ‘Contact Us’ webpage or ’Care Opinion’ link

• 13 PATH (7284) telephone line.

As part of PathWest’s commitment to continuous improvement, the health service 
will:

• acknowledge feedback within five working days of receipt

• assess and investigate all issues raised

• keep patients, clients and customers informed of the resolution process

• provide a final response within 30 days of receipt, in cases where contact details 
are provided

• implement changes and improvements identified.

Throughout 2020/21, 222 complaints/concerns were received by PathWest through 
formal feedback channels. Most complaints focussed on access to services, with an 
increase in communication-related concerns raised following the go live of the new 
LIS. 

Access 109

Communication 65

Corporate services 3

Costs 1

Professional conduct 10

Quality of clinical care 20

Rights, respect and dignity 14

Total 222

PathWest’s frontline phlebotomy and specimen collection staff were praised in the 
majority of the 51 compliments received throughout the year. Some examples of 
feedback received:

I understand Pathwest Broome has been doing overtime to get people 
their results as quickly as possible. I received my result, a routine 
test, within 24 hours. Amazing!

I went and had my glucose test today for Gestational Diabetes. I was 
really nervous due to hearing it was a terrible test, but the staff were 
lovely and put me at ease. They were very gentle, and although a 
very busy little clinic, popped their head out to make sure I was ok 
when waiting for the next bloods. Correct to other reviews, there is 
no receptionist, but if you read the signs, there is a simple check-in 
process. I barely waited 10seconds before being called through.

5-star blood and urine collection centre at PathWest Wembley.

Was giving blood samples and PathWest Albany staff member 
Janelle was very helpful.

Best experience. Excellent phlebotomist - perfect combination of 
cheerfulness and efficiency. Felt like I was in good hands from the 
receptionist to walking out the door. Thank you for your attention to 
detail, the little things mean a lot - turning the corner of the dressing 
for a person with disabled fingers was incredibly thoughtful as I 
usually struggle to get the sticky dressings off.
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Learning from clinical incidents
A clinical incident is an event resulting from the provision of health care that could 
have, or did, lead to the unintended harm of a patient. PathWest actively 
encourages all staff to report clinical incidents. The process of investigating 
incidents is undertaken consistent with the Clinical Incident Management Policy 
(Clinical Governance, Safety and Quality Policy Framework) and is fundamental in 
the prevention of future harm to patients.

During the year, all reported clinical incidents were investigated and, where 
appropriate, recommendations implemented to improve patient safety.

Clinical incidents resulting in serious harm to a patient are assigned a Severity 
Assessment Code (SAC) rating of SAC 1. There were no SAC 1 clinical incidents 
reported by PathWest in 2020/21.

PathWest monitors all clinical incidents and undertakes root cause analysis to 
ensure improvement opportunities can be identified and implemented to mitigate 
risk of reoccurrence. PathWest continues to aim for zero harm for every patient, 
every time.

Accreditation
PathWest services in medical, forensic, biological and environmental testing 
continue to hold accreditation based on international and national standards for 
testing laboratories. All PathWest medical testing laboratories are accredited by 
the NATA to the Australian and International Standard AS ISO 15189-2013: Medical 
laboratories – Requirements for quality and competence and supporting 
requirements outlined by the National Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council 
(NPAAC).

Due to COVID-19, border controls and travel restrictions, on-site assessments by 
accreditation bodies were limited and virtual assessments of the laboratories were 
introduced where possible. Despite these challenges all laboratories have 
maintained their accreditation status in all fields of testing.  

Following assessment by the NATA, PathWest gained accreditation for the testing 
for COVID-19 virus markers to be included as part of its medical scope of testing. 

As well as medical testing laboratories, PathWest operates a forensic testing 
laboratory and two biological testing laboratories. These three facilities are 
accredited by NATA to AS ISO/IEC 17025: 2018: General requirements for the 
competence of testing and calibration laboratories. This follows a three-year cycle 
of assessment that includes external audit activities.

NATA also assess the toxicology laboratory and supporting collection services to 
Australian Standard AS/NZS 4308:2008 Procedures for Specimen Collection and the 
Detection and Quantitation of Drugs of Abuse in Urine.

Due to COVID-19, border controls and travel restrictions, on-site 
assessments by accreditation bodies were limited and virtual 
assessments of the laboratories were introduced where possible. 
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Appendix
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AASs Australian Accounting Standards
ABMDR Australian Bone Marrow Donor Registry
ACHS Australian Council of Healthcare Standards
ADAPT Annual Development and Performance 

Training
AIMS Australian Institute of Medical Scientists
AO Order of Australia
AP Anatomical Pathology
ASHI American Society of Histocompatibility and 

Immunogenetics
BMTL Bone Marrow Transplant Laboratory
CAHS Child and Adolescent Health Service
CT Computerised tomography
DAIP Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DoH Department of Health
dsDNA Double stranded DNA
DWER Department of Water and Environmental 

Regulation
ED Emergency Department
EDS Autologous serum eye drops
EM Electron Microscopy
EMHS East Metropolitan Health Service
EMU Environmental Microbiology Unit
ERMS Enterprise Risk Management System
FBAC Forensic Biology Advisory Council
FBD Forensic Biology Department
FMA Financial Management Act
FOI Freedom of Information 

FSH Fiona Stanley Hospital
GESB Government Employees Superannuation 

Board
GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating 

factor
GVHD Graft versus host disease
HIV Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA Human leukocyte antigen
HSA 2016 Health Services Act 2016 WA
HSP Health Service Provider
HSS Health Support Services
ICT Information, communication and technology
IIA Institute of Internal Auditors
KPI Key Performance Indicator
LAL Limulus amoebocyte lysate
LIS Laboratory Information System 
LSL Long Service Leave
MCDC Metropolitan Communicable Disease Control
MoST Molecular Oncology Screening and Treatment
MRSA Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus
NATA National Association of Testing Authorities
NBA National Blood Authority
NGS Next Generation Sequencing
NMHS North Metropolitan Health Service
NPAAC National Pathology Accreditation Advisory 

Council
OBM Outcome Based Management
OSH Occupational Safety and Health
PCR Polymerase chain reaction

PEth Phosphatidylethanol

PPE Personal protective equipment

PSC Public Sector Commission

QAP Quality Assurance Program

QEII Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre

RAC Risk and Audit Committee

RCPA Royal College of Pathologists Australasia

RGS Research Governance Service

RMD Reusable medical device

RNA Ribonucleic acid

RPH Royal Perth Hospital

RSS Regional Support Services

RSV Respiratory syncytial virus

SA South Australia

SAC Severity Assessment Code

SARC Sexual Assault Resource Centre

SCGH Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital

SLE Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

SMHS South Metropolitan Health Service

TAT Turn-around time

TIs Treasurer’s Instructions

UWA University of Western Australia

WA Western Australia

WACHS WA Country Health Service

WACIC WA COVID-19 Collaborative

WAPF WA Police Force

WES Whole exome sequencing

WGS Whole genome sequencing

Appendix 1 – Abbreviations and acronyms
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Street address: Building A, Level 2, Pathology Building, Fiona Stanley Hospital, 11 Robin Warren Drive, Murdoch WA 6150

Postal address: Locked Bag 100, Palmyra DC WA 6961

Phone: 13 PATH (7284)

Email: PathWest.OfficeofCE@health.wa.gov.au

Website: pathwest.health.wa.gov.au

http://pathwest.health.wa.gov.au
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